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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is principally
engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu light, medium and
heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-purpose vehicles and diesel
and petrol engines. All of the production facilities of the Group are
located in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and substantially
all the sales of the Group are also made in the PRC. The Group has
made an export sales to Japan during the year, which accounted for
approximately 0.70% of the Group's turnover for the year.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group had 2,923 employees as at 31st December, 2010.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Qingling Motors Co.
Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2010 for your review.

2010 RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company sold 60,025
vehicles, an increase of 38% over the 43,506 vehicles sold last
year. Turnover reached RMB6.11 billion, an increase of 36% over
RMB4.49 billion as recorded last year. Profit after tax was RMB303
million, an increase of 29% over RMB235 million as recorded last
year.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

Last year, the year of 2010, was an extraordinary and extremely
meaningful year to the development of the Company. All staff, on
the working principle of “fully geared up for business growth and
achieving a leap in development”, rendered arduous and relentless
efforts, and excellent results were achieved in different projects,
thus providing support to the Company for achieving satisfactory
results in the manufacturing operation during the period and
laying solid foundations in terms of hardware and software for the
sustainable and rapid growth in 2011.
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marketing for light-duty vehicles, and initial success we
achieved for the nurturing of the competitiveness of sales
and marketing for medium and heavy-duty vehicles: (i)
the Company rapidly increased the number of distributors and
branches for light-duty vehicles and penetrated from various
provinces and cities into cities at prefecture level and cities
at sub-prefecture level in the developed regions, basically
forming a nation-wide and localized network for the sales and
after-sales services; (i) the Company initiated the development
of new distributors for medium and heavy-duty vehicles and
improved the after-sales service capacity in a synchronized
manner.

2. Extra efforts made to ensure the timely delivery of
components and parts produced internally and procured
externally resulted in the significant improvement of
the production efficiency: (i) the Company enhanced its
standard on equipment management to provide strong
support for the sustainable and normal operation of each
production department; (ii) the Company actively took technical
measures to improve the technologies, equipment, tools and
moulds, and strengthened the production management in the
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

PR & R ET S

meanwhile to improve the production efficiency and increase
the output; (iii) the Company made efforts to ensure the supply
of components and parts procured externally, raw materials
and imported components and parts to satisfy the significantly
increased market demand.

3. Extra efforts made on the quality improvement further
improved the quality and quantity of components and
parts procured externally and produced internally: (i) the
Company conducted quality inspection and control over the
products of the Company and the suppliers, and established
a dual supervision and support mechanism for the quality
and gquantity management department and the manufacturing
units; (i) the Company fully implemented the quality and
quantity management method of Isuzu and optimized the
technologies manufacturing system and the quality inspection
system to provide assurance for the improvement of product
quality.

MAJOR EFFORTS MADE TO LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS
IN TERMS OF HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE FOR THE
SUSTAINABLE AND RAPID DEVELOPMENT IN 2011

1. Leveraged on the edges on internationally advanced
technologies, superior quality and production cost to
develop four portfolios of high quality, medium-priced
products with high performance-to-price ratio: (i) the
Company introduced FTR medium-priced vehicles, forming the
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

portfolio of medium-duty commercial vehicles with 700P; (ii)
FVR and FVZ heavy-duty vehicles, the selling prices of which
were reduced in January 2010, have turned into high quality,
medium-priced vehicles and have become part of the portfolio
of heavy-duty commercial vehicles; (iii) 600P has turned into
high quality, medium-priced vehicles and formed the portfolio
of light-duty commercial vehicles with 100P, targeting at
various provinces, cities and prefecture-level cities; (iv) 4K, 4J
diesel pick-ups and 4Z petrol pick-ups formed the portfolio of
pick-ups, which will all be the driving force for the sustainable
and rapid development of the Company in 2011.

Steadily carried out various projects for the expansion
of production capacities in assembly and components
and parts produced internally and procured externally, as
well as the construction of testing/inspection centers, so
as to lay a solid foundation in terms of hardware for the
sustainable development of the Company: (i) the newly-
built T/U assembly lines commenced production in 2010, and
new 700P and N series of assembly lines that are currently
under construction are expected to commence production in
2011; (ii) the Company improved its production capacity for
components and parts internally produced (such as engines
and gearboxes) and procured externally; (iii) the Company
introduced advanced technologies and equipment from
Europe, America and Japan to establish testing and inspection
centers at most technical advanced level and nuture the
research and development capability in the key technologies,
such as environmental protection, energy saving and safety,
for the vehicles and engines.

Improved the skills and management quality of the staff
at different levels by offering them job-related training:
the Company arranged the training lessons with the contents
based on the principle of “making up for what is lacking and
studying what is needed”, and invited experts and professors
from universities and colleges as well as leaders of the
Company to give on-site training lessons on the management
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

knowledge and expertise in relation to vehicles/engines to the
management, mid-level officials, technicians and workers of
the Company, the results of which were relatively satisfactory.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTUS

During the 10th Five-Year Plan Period and the 11th Five-Year Plan
Period, the Company focused its efforts on the establishment and
development of the portfolio of light-duty vehicles, and basically
achieved its strategic target. While during the 12th Five-Year Plan
Period, to which 2011 is the beginning year, the Company will step
up its effort to further develop such portfolio. The Company is aware
of the changes in the demand for medium and heavy-duty vehicles
as well as its unique edges on light and heavy-duty vehicles, and
accordingly it has formulated its development strategy for the 12th
Five-Year Plan Period as follows: seeking for the growth in the
manufacturing operation of medium and heavy-duty vehicles and
developing into an enterprise specialized in both medium and heavy-
duty commercial vehicles. According to our development strategy
for the 12th Five-Year Plan Period, our efforts in 2011 will be made
to focus on the following aspects:

1. Complete the projects for the expansion of production
capacities in assembly, components and parts produced
internally and procured externally, as well as the
construction of testing and construction centers in 2011:
(i) for the projects on the expansion of the production capacity
in assembly, the Company will complete the construction of
new 700P and N series of assembly lines and commence
production within the vyear; (i) for the projects on the
expansion of the production capacity in components and parts
produced internally and procured externally, the Company
will complete the expansion of the production capacity in
components and parts produced internally (such as engines
and gearboxes) and procured externally; (iii) for the projects
on the construction of testing and inspection centers, the
Company will put extra efforts on the construction as well as
the installation and debugging of the imported and domestic
equipment upon delivery, and complete the hardware
construction by the end of the year; (iv) for the projects
on the improvement of the competitiveness of sales and
marketing, the Company will continue to rapidly develop the
sales networks for medium and heavy-duty vehicles and light-
duty vehicles, and improve the after-sales service capacity in a
synchronized manner.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Further its efforts on efficiency improvement, quality
and quantity management, product development and
staff training: () the Company will establish a production
information management system to enhance the production
management by scientific means, proactively carry out
equipment management to ensure the smooth operation
of the equipment with the significant growth in the output
and the sales volume, and continue to implement technical
measures and improve the facilities for technologies to further
improve the production efficiency and increase the output; (ii)
the Company will enhance quality and quantity management,
adopt the Isuzu quality and quantity management method
and the latest standards on quality inspection and control to
ensure the high quality of the products; (iii) the Company will
consolidate the technical foundation, continuously develop
and launch new products with internationally advanced
technologies, and at the same time, further commercialize
the existing products to satisfy different customers’ needs
on different performance-price ratios; (iv) the Company will
nurture staff for characters and professional competence
which are in line with the corporate development by improving
their professional qualities and ethics.

Further reduce the cost of components and parts produced
internally and procured externally and enhance the
competitiveness of the products in terms of performance-
price ratios. Although the products of the Company are high
quality, medium priced, with the lapse of time, unceasing
changes in the economic environment will result in new
negative impact on the products in terms of performance-
price ratios: (i) with the annual increase in the costs of raw
materials, fuels and labor, the profit will be restricted; (ii) the
competitors also endeavour to improve the product qualities
and reducing costs, thus narrowing the gap with the Company
in terms of performance-price ratios. As such, the Company is
committed to reduce the costs so as to offset such negative
impact and seek for new competitiveness.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

In face of the development opportunities in 2011 and in the future,
the Company believes that all the staff will seize the time and
make full use of its existing competitive edges on the resources to
increase its market share, strive to achieve better operating results
and bring more satisfactory returns for the investors.

WU Yun
Chairman
23 March 2011
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Yun, aged 57, has been an executive Director since 28
April 1994. Mr. WU is also the chairman of the Company. He is also
Chairman and General Manager of Qingling Group. Mr. WU, a senior
economist, has been in the motor vehicle production industry for
over 30 years and has extensive experience in management and
finance. He is a standing director of the Sino-Foreign Investment
Association and a representative of Chongqing National People’s
Congress. Mr. WU graduated from Hunan University, specialising in
automobile studies.

Mr. GAO Jianmin, aged 51, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. GAO is currently an executive director and
managing director of Silver Grant International Industries Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”), stock code: 171) and an executive director
of Jiangxi Copper Company Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 358). Mr. GAO has more than 22 years’
experience in finance, industrial investment and development. He
holds a Bachelor degree in engineering from Qinghua University.

Mr. Makoto TANAKA, aged 59, has been an executive Director
since 17 June 2008. Mr. TANAKA is also the general manager of
the Company. Mr. TANAKA graduated from Nihon University. He
joined lIsuzu Motors Limited (“Isuzu”) in April 1975. He served in
different positions in Isuzu from December 1994 to April 2005,
including supervisor of assembly team (& 3%1l748) of Large Size
Automobiles Technology Department (KAVEER{iTER), director of
production coordination department (4 ZE %2 1% /156) of production
technology planning office (4 ZE 712 #]=) and director of PT public
works department (PT LT#EE). He was president of Isuzu Engine
Manufacturing Co., (Thailand) Ltd. (A +#Z&ERZE SR EHRN S H)
during the period from May 2005 to April 2007. He returned to Isuzu
in April 2007 and served as PT production executive director (PT 4
EMITES).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA, aged 62, has been an executive Director
since 2 March 2011. Mr. TSUKIOKA graduated from Waseda
University in Japan. In April of 1972, Mr. TSUKIOKA joined Isuzu and
from November 1998 until November 2002, he held the positions
in Isuzuas team member of the production planning department
(EmEIZEEAEILE), team member of the merchandise planning
department (Em{E|ZEE(EEEE), head of the 1st, 3rd and
bth divisions of the commercial vehicles merchandise planning
department (B EmMEEIEE 30 F=3F - FRIEE), officer
of the commercial vehicles merchandise planning department (7
HEAEEIEEER) and officer of the vehicles development office (8
WMAZEEZER). From June 2003 until February 2004, Mr. TSUKIOKA
held the post as executive director (HlfT#E &) of Isuzu's technology
development planning department (FfitfZE®E3f) and design
centre (RX&FALy). From April 2005 until March 2006, he served as
the Area Operations Executive of the North America (1k 330 % I8 3
#545). From April 2006 until the present, Mr. TSUKIOKA has been
the Executive Vice President and Director (BX&51& &ltt &) of Isuzu.

Mr. LIU Guangming, aged 57, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. LIU is also a Deputy General Manager of the
Company, a Chairman of a member of the Group as well as Deputy
Chairman and Deputy General Manager of Qingling Group. He is
also the Chairman of the Company’s remuneration committee. Mr.
LIU is a Senior Economist and the Vice Chairman of the Chongging
Management Association and has over 29 years' experience in
corporate management and personnel management. He studied
in universities in Japan, the United States and Chongging and was
previously a division head, Deputy Party Secretary and Deputy
Factory Manager and Party Secretary of Qingling Group.

Mr. PAN Yong, aged 60, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. PAN is also a Deputy General Manager of the
Company, a Chairman of a few members of the Group as well as a
Director and Deputy General Manager of Qingling Group. Mr. PAN is
a senior economist, has more than 30 years’ experience in corporate
management and sales. Mr. PAN graduated from Hunan University,
specialising in automobile studies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUE Huagiang, aged 66, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. YUE is also an assistant to the General Manager
of the Company, a director of various members of the Group as well
as a Deputy Chief Accountant of Qingling Group. Mr. YUE is a senior
accountant and has more than 37 years’ experience in corporate
financial management. Mr. YUE graduated from Sichuan Finance
and Trade School in 1964 and attended the People’s Republic of
China training programme for chief accountants. He has been an
Accounting Supervisor, Head of the Financial Division, Deputy Chief
Accountant and Chief Accountant of the Company.

Mr. LONG Tao, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 28 April 1994. He is also a member of both the
Company’s audit committee and remuneration committee. Mr.
LONG graduated from Research Institute for Fiscal Science,
Ministry of Finance, majoring in accounting. Mr. LONG holds a
master’'s degree in economics. He had served at Accountancy
Division of Central University of Finance and Economics, and
New York office of KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr. LONG had acted
as a member of Securities Issue and Approval Committee of
China Securities Regulatory Commission and member of Chinese
accounting expert panel for China-Hong Kong Securities Team.
Mr. LONG is currently an associate professor of the Accountancy
Division of Central University of Finance and Economics and the
Chairman of Beijing Haiwen Investment Consultants Inc. Mr. LONG
has extensive knowledge and experience in corporate finance,
accounting, audit, assets appraisal, restructuring of enterprise and
listing. Mr. LONG also serves as the independent non-executive
director of China Asset Management Co., Ltd. Mr. LONG retired
as the independent non-executive director of Beijing Capital
International Airport Co., Ltd. (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 694) on 12 June 2008. Mr. LONG has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Beijing North
Star Company Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
stock code: 588) on 19 May 2009. Mr. LONG resigned as an
independent director of Asialnfo Holdings Inc. (listed on NASDAQ,
NASDAQ: ASIA) on 1 July 2010.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, aged 60, has been an independent non-
executive Director since 28 April 1994. He is also the Chairman of
the Company’s audit committee and a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee. Mr. SONG is a General Manager of
Chongging Ping Zheng Law Office, a member of the China
Economic Law Association and the China Lawyers Association, and
a council member of the Chongging Lawyers Association. He is also
the Vice Chairman of the Foreign Affairs Committee of Chongging
Lawyers Association and a member of the Chongging Legal
Academy. Mr. SONG has been a lawyer and notary for 25 years.
Mr. SONG graduated from South West Institute of Political Science
and Law. He also studied international law in the China University
of Political Science and Law and foreign economic law at Shenzhen
University. He was formerly a Vice Chairman of Chongging Notary
Office and Vice Chairman of Chongging Foreign Law Office.

Mr. XU Bingjin, aged 72, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 22 September 2004. He is also a member of both the
Company’s audit committee and remuneration committee. Mr. XU
is the President of China Europe Economic Association for Technical
and Economic Cooperation, Vice President of the World Trade
Organization Institute, Part-time Professor of Shanghai Foreign
Trade College and Senior Consultant of Northeastern University.
He holds a Bachelor Degree in Engineering Economics from Jilin
Industrial University and is a Senior Engineer. Mr. XU has been a
former assistant to the minister of the Ministry of China Foreign
Trade and Economic Cooperation, Deputy Chief of the Delegation
of China Entry to GATT and the Delegation of China Entry to WTO.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Brilliance
China Automotive Holdings Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 1114).



\mo AR
N 4

[
Eh) it
B 2

> I8
5 8 4
¥

53

MELZLT - 483m A-FTTRHF
NATHBERERBERRAR
HENEE IREFSIFE -
MAtHEEREEEZRE
EMTeXTRE GELXEEESN
AT -_Fz&B -BLER
—NANNFEEXEREERER
W R KEAMEE  LEA
MExeEE -

BALZE 59% B—ANEF
NAT-—BEERHEERRAERL
FREE BARTHREARRAL
ZRIELKRBIAM REERS
HAE=1THEZ&R -BAxL
R—ANNFERXRM)I A E

BRERBREEEEEE -

REBE%X4E 36 BE_ZTTN
FARAATARAEERABRIAR
HEMNESE -REER-AAN
FEXRHREAEIRABLE
ITREMR-_ZETLFEENE
BREBLXUBERZEE BT
2 BEZEZLEM  -RELER
—NANFERAEALRRAL
F SERRENE BEREE
EIECR Y 3 /N S e

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SUPERVISORS

Ms. MIN Qing, aged 43, has been the Supervisor representing
the shareholders since 15 June 2006 and is the Chairman of the
Supervisory Committee. Ms. MIN is the Deputy Secretary of
the Party Committee and the Chairman of the Workers Union
of Qingling Group. She has 22 years’ experience in corporate
management. Ms. MIN graduated from Chongging Communication
College in Mechanical Engineering in 1988 and had undergraduate
education. She also studied corporate management in Japan.

Ms. ZHOU Hong, aged 59, has been a Supervisor representing
the shareholders since 11 June 1997. Ms. ZHOU is the Deputy
Secretary of the Communist Party Discipline Commission of the
Company and a political specialist. She has 35 years’ experience
in management. Ms. ZHOU graduated from Sichuan Party Cadre
Distant Learning Institute in 1988, specializing in economic
management.

Mr. ZHANG Wanjin, aged 36, has been a Supervisor representing
the staff and workers since 16 June 2009. Mr. ZHANG graduated
from the chemical engineering department of Wuhan Automotive
Polytechnic University in 1998 and Chongging University in 2007
majoring corporate finance management and received bachelor
degrees in engineering and business administration respectively.
Mr. ZHANG joined the Company in June 1998 and served as the
secretary of the office of the Company, the deputy chief economist
and the director of the office of Qingling Group.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’'S REPORT

TO SHAREHOLDERS:

Since the establishment of the Supervisory Committee, each
member has been performing his duty in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association with a view of protecting the
interests of shareholders and the Company. We have attended
the board meetings and have given our opinions regarding the
operations, technological reform and development of the Company
during board meetings. We have also monitored the guiding
ideology of the management and considered whether the decisions
made by the management were in compliance with state laws and
whether they were appropriate for the development of the Company
and were in the interests of shareholders.

According to its power, the Supervisory Committee has reviewed
evidence of the Company’s accounts, books, reports and other
accounting information from time to time. In our opinion, the
financial statements have been properly prepared while the
accounting principles and the method of financial management
adopted are in compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

We have carefully examined the financial statements, the
Directors’ Report and the proposal for appropriation of profit to
be presented before the forthcoming annual general meeting by
the Board of Directors. In our opinion, the chairman of the board,
directors, managers and senior management have not engaged
in any malpractices which would be prejudicial to the interests of
shareholders and employees of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the performance as
well as the economic results of the Company, and we are confident
about the future development of the Company.

MIN Qing

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Chongging, PRC,

23 March 2011
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) present their
annual report and audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu
light, medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-purpose
vehicles and diesel and petrol engines. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are set out in notes 33 and
18 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 44. The directors of the Company recommend the payment
of a final dividend of RMBO0.10 per share to the shareholders on the
register of members of the Company on 9 May, 2011, amounting to
approximately RMB248,227,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group incurred approximately RMB36,558,000
on acquisition of property, plant and equipment for expansion of its
production facilities.

Details of these and other movements during the year in property,
plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group are set
out in note 14 and note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

According to the Company's Articles of Association, for the purpose
of determining the amount of profit available for distribution,
the amount shall be deemed to be the lesser of the amount of
profit determined in accordance with the relevant accounting
principles and financial regulations applicable to companies
established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC GAAP") and
the amount of profit determined in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”). The Company's profit
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2010
was the retained profit of approximately RMB1,502,162,000
determined in accordance with PRC GAAP (2009: approximately
RMB1,422,748,000 determined in accordance with PRC GAAP).

The profit of the Company for a financial year shall be applied in
accordance with the following order:

(i) making up losses;

(i) allocation to statutory surplus reserve fund,

(i) if there are preference shares, payment of dividends in respect
of preference shares;

(iv) allocation to discretionary surplus reserve fund; and

(v)  payment of dividends in respect of ordinary shares.

The detailed proportion of distribution in respect of items (ii) to (v)
above for any financial year shall be formulated by the Board in
accordance with the operational conditions of the Company and its
development requirements and shall be submitted to shareholders’
general meeting for approval.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

WU Yun (Chairman)

GAO Jianmin

Makoto TANAKA (General Manager)

Ryozo TSUKIOKA (appointed on 2 March 2011)

Masanori KATAYAMA (resigned on 2 March 2011)

LIU Guangming
PAN Yong
YUE Huagiang

Independent non-executive directors:

LONG Tao
SONG Xiaojiang
XU Bingjin

Supervisors:
MIN Qing

ZHOU Hong
ZHANG Wanijin
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All the directors, other than Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA, were re-elected
and appointed as directors to hold office from the date of the
annual general meeting for 2009 (the “2009 AGM") to the date of
the annual general meeting for 2012 (the “2012 AGM"). They had
renewed their service contracts with the Company for a term of
three years commencing on 16 June 2009.

At the extraordinary general meeting held on 2 March 2011 (the
“EGM"), Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA resigned as an executive
director. Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA was appointed as an executive
director to hold office from the date of the EGM to the date of the
2012 AGM. Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA has entered his service contract
with the Company on 2 March 2011.

According to the provisions of the Companies Law in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the term of office of all supervisors
shall be three years renewable upon appointment or re-election.
All the existing supervisors were re-elected and appointed as
supervisors to hold office from the date of the 2009 AGM to the
date of the 2012 AGM.

None of the directors or supervisors has a service contract with
the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors as regards to their
independence to the Company and considers that each of the
independent non-executive directors is independent to the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, none of the directors or the supervisors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director or supervisor of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The details of directors’ remuneration and highest paid individuals
are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. All
of five highest paid individuals of the Company for both years were
directors.

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2010, there were 130 shareholders recorded in
the register of shareholders of the Company and the shareholders
other than a director, supervisor or chief executive of the Company,
having an interest or short positions in 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the relevant class as recorded in the register of
interests in the shares and short positions required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of SFO were as follows:
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Name of shareholders
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Qingling Motors (Group) Company

Limited

ATREBERAGH

[suzu Motors Limited

Richard L. Chilton, Jr.

Chilton Investment Company, Inc.

Chilton Investment Company, LLC
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

R 12 5
Class of
shares

NE R
Domestic
shares

IME B (HER )
Foreign
shares
(H shares)

HR%
H shares

HR
H shares

HR
H shares

=ik
Number of
shares held

1,243,616,403%
1,243,616,403 shares

496,453,664
496,453,654 shares

74,528,000%

(Hzt)
74,528,000 shares
(Note)

74,528,000%

(Hit)
74,528,000 shares
(Note)

74,528,000%

(Hit)
74,528,000 shares
(Note)

Beneficial
owner

EREBA
Beneficial
owner

Rt
EEEE

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Rt
EEEE

Interest of
controlled
corporation

REZRE
Investment
manager

EERERMN
REBAL
Percentage of
the relevant
class of
share capital

100.00%
100.00%

40.08%
40.08%

6.02%
6.02%

6.02%
6.02%

6.02%
6.02%

BARRE
Bt
Percentage of
entire

share capital

50.10%
50.10%

20.00%
20.00%

3.00%
3.00%

3.00%
3.00%

3.00%
3.00%
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

Note:

The following is a breakdown of the interests in shares of the Company held by Richard
L. Chilton, Jr.:

RIODERBER
Total interest in shares
ZEHED HiEES R
EERRERE Percentage of Direct Indirect
Name of controlling shareholder control interest interest
Richard L. Chilton, Jr. 49.80% — 74,528,000
Chilton Investment Company, Inc. 61.06% — 74,528,000

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2010.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or Supervisors had any
interest in any business which compete or may compete with the
business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee (composed of one executive director
and three independent non-executive directors) on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had connected transactions with

Qingling Group and its subsidiaries, and Isuzu and its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Isuzu (China) Holding Co., Ltd. (collectively referred to

as “lIsuzu Group”), and Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd.

(“Qingling Isuzu Engine”), a jointly controlled entity formed and

jointly controlled by the Company and Isuzu. Qingling Group and
Isuzu held 50.10% and 20.00% of the issued share capital of the
Company respectively as at 31 December 2010. Details of these

transactions are as follows:

Significant connected transactions with Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries:

At the time of reorganisation as described in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into
a service agreement with Qingling Group in relation to the
sales of parts and raw materials for the manufacture of
automobile parts by Qingling Group. In addition, the Group
had also entered into a parts supply agreement with Qingling
Group whereby Qingling Group agreed to provide the Group
with certain parts and components produced by Qingling
Group which are required in the production processes of the
Group. On 23 May 2008, the Group entered into new parts
supply agreements with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
respectively, which were approved by the Company’s general
meeting held on 5 August 2008.

On 23 May 2008, the Company also entered into a warehouse
leasing agreement with Qingling Group whereby the Company
agreed to lease warehouses from Qingling Group for a period
of three years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

Significant connected transactions with Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

Details of connected transactions with Qingling Group during
the year are set out in note 29(i)(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
During the vyear, the Company had certain connected
transactions with some of the sino-foreign joint venture
companies which are subsidiaries of Qingling Group. These
companies include EEERBERRAR, EEERBEEAR
nR, EEERERARAR, ERENRARERERAR, =
EERZEBERAT and EEEKRFEIRGRAF. Details of
these transactions are set out in note 29(i)(b) to 29(i)(g) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Significant connected transactions with Isuzu Group:

On 23 May 2008, the Company has entered into an automobile
parts and components supply agreement with Isuzu whereby
Isuzu agreed to provide the Company with certain automobile
parts and components produced by Isuzu which are required
in the production processes of the Group. This agreement was
approved by the independent shareholders by poll on 5 August
2008.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Significant connected transactions with Isuzu Group: (Cont'd)

On 23 May 2008, the Company has also entered into an
accessory sets and other automobile parts and components
supply agreement with Isuzu whereby the Company agreed to
provide Isuzu with certain accessory sets and other automobile
parts and components produced by the Company which are
required in the production processes of Isuzu Group. This
agreement was approved by the independent shareholders by
poll on 5 August 2008.

During the vyear, the Company had certain connected
transactions with Isuzu in respect of the royalty fee for the
transfer of technology and provision of technical know-how
and the permission to use the trademark of Isuzu and the
emblem by Isuzu to the Company for the production and in
the sales of 100P - N/R series light vehicles, 140 TF/UC Series
vehicles, F Series Chassis and 700P series and related parts

and components.

Details of connected transactions with Isuzu Group during
the year are set out in note 29(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)  Significant connected transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine:

Since November 2007, connected transactions have been
carried out between the Company and Qingling Isuzu Engine
in respect of (i) the ongoing supply transactions, namely
the supply of parts of engines and raw materials to and the
purchase of engines and their parts from Qingling Isuzu
Engine, (i) the ongoing consolidated services, namely the
provision of consolidated services to Qingling Isuzu Engine,
(iii) the ongoing equipment lease, namely the rental of leased
equipment to Qingling Isuzu Engine, and (iv) the ongoing
factory lease, namely the lease of the leased land and factory
premises to Qingling Isuzu Engine.

On 21 January 2008, the Company entered into following
agreements with Qingling Isuzu Engine: (1) the Supply
Agreement; (2) the Consolidated Services Agreement; (3)
the Equipment Lease Agreement; and (4) the Factory Lease
Agreement. All these agreements were approved by the
independent shareholders by poll on 31 March 2008.

Details of connected transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine
during the year are set out in note 29(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

The independent non-executive directors confirm that the
transactions have been entered into by the Company in the ordinary
course of its business, on normal commercial terms or on terms
no less favorable than terms available to or from independent
third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the agreement
governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.



EEERE

EABEBAREF

HE-Z-—ZF+=-A=+—H
EFE ASEMRAEERG
BEBEATY% AR
BIRFER25% - BEREEZ — W
WEAR -~ AR Az —RHERE
SIEEBRATREBEHFEETH
KBHTFTAEE 2 —HBERES
AAYBAER 2 A RNHER -
HERESEREWBAR @ K#E
It+HREBEZRSFRBHR L
X [BEXRS] —&HA -k
WEN BE-_ZT-—ZTF+-A
T+—BLEFE ARREERER
BEEE - HE B ASUEMARE (BE
ESHMMBEBSDIA EARRF 2K
RE) BIEEBAEERAHE
RIS o

BE-ZT-TF+-_A=1+—8H
LEE AEERTAEFPEMGEA
HERERAEBRAEERL
20% -

THRERES - BRE RRE
o LR

ARAREWMBRARRAFEL
BERTHIR B EMATBBES
BRE - BREEFERECUER -

ARG 3 g AR A F) L B A
ARAREHEBETRENT
R T o 0 R 8 R PR
% - W - R SUE LR
7 o

28

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FIVE LARGEST SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the five largest suppliers
accounted for 47% of the total purchases of the Group. The largest
supplier accounted for 25% of the total purchases. One subsidiary
of Qingling Group, a jointly controlled entity of the Company and a
Japanese trading company, through which Isuzu channels its supply
of parts and components to the Group, are included in the five
largest suppliers of the Group. Details of transactions with Qingling
Group and its subsidiaries and with Isuzu Group are set out in the
section “Connected Transactions” above. Other than disclosed
above, the Company’s directors and supervisors, their associates
or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital), did not have any
interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers for the year ended 31
December 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were less than
20% of the Group's total sales.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries did not issue or grant any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the
year.

There were no outstanding or conversion of convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the Company
or its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entity during the year.
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DESIGNATED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not hold any designated
deposits or any time deposits that were overdue but could not be
collected upon maturity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, none of the Company or its subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has 2,923 employees (2009:
3,050 employees). During the year, no material change is noted for
the number of employees nor their remuneration policy. The Group
actively provides various training to its staff of all levels.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Group's staff retirement benefits scheme are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Based on specific enquires to all directors
and supervisors, the Company confirms that all directors and
supervisors have complied with the requirements of the Model
Code during the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Code
of Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year.

Further information on the Company’'s corporate governance
practices is set out in the “corporate governance report” from
pages 32 to 40.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, there is sufficient public
float as not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares are held
by the public throughout the year 2010.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The audit committee has reviewed with the management and
auditor of the Company the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal controls
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2010.
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting for
2011 (the 2011 AGM") to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

WU Yun
CHAIRMAN

Chongging, PRC,
23 March 2011
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The Company endeavours to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and to increase transparency to its shareholders. The
Company has adopted sound governance and disclosure practices,
and is committed to continuously improve those practices and
cultivate an ethical corporate culture.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules in the year 2010.

Rule 19A.18(1) of the Listing Rules provides that, among others,
at least one of the independent non-executive directors of a
PRC issuer must be ordinarily resident in Hong Kong. In order to
provide for the appointment of a suitable candidate as the fourth
independent non-executive Director at the annual general meeting
for the purpose of complying with Rule 19.18(1) of the Listing
Rules, Article 94 of the Articles of Association has been amended
to increase the number of directors that comprise the Board, with
effect from 10 March 2011. The Board has proposed to approve the
appointment of Mr. LIU Tianni as an independent executive director
with effect from the date of the 2011 AGM to the date of the 2012
AGM of the Company.

Below is the summary of the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company in 2010.

THE BOARD

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the approval
and monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and policies,
approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation of the
performance of the Company, and oversight of the work of the
management.
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The day-to-day operations of the Group are delegated to the
management. The management team must meet regularly with
executive directors to review and discuss on day-to-day operations
issues, financial and operating performance as well as to monitor
and ensure the management in carrying out the directions and
strategies set by the Board correctly and properly.

The Board comprises ten Directors, out of which seven are
executive Directors (including the Chairman and the General
Manager) and three are independent non-executive Directors. For
name list and profile of the members of the Board, please refer to
the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management”. In accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules, an independent non-executive director must
be confirmed by the Board to have no direct or indirect material
relationship with the Company before being considered to be
independent. The Company has received written confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his independence and
considered all independent non-executive Directors are independent
to the Company. There is no financial, business, family or other
material/related relationship existing among the Directors.

The Board should meet regularly, and board meeting should be held
at least four times a year. The Board held six meetings in 2010 and
one meeting before 23 March 2011. Attendance rate of Directors
(including attendance by representatives) was 100%.

The Board has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors and Supervisors. After making
specific enquiries with all Directors and Supervisors, the Company
has confirmed that the Directors and Supervisors complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during 2010.
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CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. WU Yun and Mr. Makoto TANAKA hold the positions of
Chairman of the Board and General Manager, which are two clearly
separate positions, respectively.

The Chairman is responsible for leading, and overseeing the
operations of the Board, effectively planning the Board meetings
and ensuring the Board is acting in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman shall proactively encourage Directors
to fully participate in the Board's affairs and make contribution
to the functions of the Board. The Board, under the Chairman’s
leadership, has adopted good corporate governance practices and
procedures and has taken appropriate steps to maintain effective
communication with the shareholders.

The General Manager is responsible for managing the business
of the Company, as well as formulating and implementing the
Company’s policies and is answerable to the Board in relation to the
overall management of the Company. The General Manager of the
Company works in close association with other executive Directors
and the administrative team of each core business division, ensuring
the funding requirements of the business of the Company are
sufficiently met and at the same time closely monitor the operation
and financial results of the Company according to business plans
and budgets, and advise the Board on matters in relation to the
Company’s development. The General Manager of the Company
is required to keep close communication with the Chairman
and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all substantive
matters relating to the Company’s business development, and
is also responsible for building and maintaining a highly efficient
administrative support team to support him to discharge the
assigned duties in this position.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that
Directors shall be elected at the shareholders’ general meeting for
a term of three years. Upon expiry of the term, a director shall be
eligible for re-election. Accordingly, all Directors are appointed for a
specific term.

The Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board
shall have the collective responsibility to consider and assess the
candidates for directorships based on their characters, qualifications
and experience appropriate for the Group’'s businesses, and
nominate candidates for directorships accordingly. Candidates for
directorship are subject to election by shareholders at shareholders’
general meeting.

All directors, other than Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA, were all re-elected
and appointed at the 2009 AGM. Their term of office are from 16
June 2009 to the date of the 2012 AGM.

In December 2010, the Board received the notification from Mr.
Masanori KATAYAMA that his resignation as an executive director
of the Company due to re-allocation of his job duties, and Isuzu,
a substantial shareholder, nominated Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA as a
candidate to replace Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA as an executive
director of the Company. The Board has proposed resolutions
to approve (i) the resignation of Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA as an
executive director, and (ii) the nomination of Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA
as an executive director. Such resolutions were approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting
held on 2 March 2011. The term of office of Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA is
from 2 March 2011 to the date of the 2012 AGM.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its Remuneration Committee on 20
April, 2006. The Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr.
SONG Xiaojiang and Mr. XU Bingjin) and one executive Director
(namely Mr. LIU Guangming). Mr. LIU Guangming serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee were set based on the recommendations
set out in the Code issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the
main points are summarised as follows: to recommend the Board
in respect of the remuneration policies for the Directors and senior
management of the Company; to recommend the Board in respect
of the remuneration policies for the independent non-executive
Directors; to determine the specific remunerations for all executive
Directors and senior management members, including nonmonetary
benefits, pension and compensation payment; to ensure that none
of the Directors or any of their respective associates participate in
the determination of their own remuneration; other recommended
duties set out in various provisions of the Code.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2010.
Attendance rate of the members of the Remuneration Committee
was 100%.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee comprises three members, two of
whom are representatives of the shareholders (namely Ms. MIN
Qing and Ms. ZHOU Hong) and one of whom is the representative
of the staff and workers (namely Mr. ZHANG Wanjin). Ms. MIN Qing
serves as the chairman of the Supervisory Committee. During 2010,
the Supervisors of the Company exercised their right of supervision
in accordance with the laws to protect the legal interests of the
shareholders, the Company and the employees. The details of the
work of the Supervisory Committee are set out in the Supervisory
Committee’s Report in this annual report.

The Supervisory Committee held two meetings in 2010. Attendance
rate of the supervisors was 100%.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with specific
terms of reference in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
who possess appropriate commercial and financial skills and
experience to understand financial statements. The Committee is
chaired by Mr. SONG Xiaojiang and other members are Mr. LONG
Tao and Mr. XU Bingjin.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include the duties
to recommend the engagement and replacement of external
audit firms, oversee the Company’s internal auditing system and
implementation, verify the Company's financial information and
disclosure, examine the Company’s internal control system, and
take charge and act as a communication channel between internal
and external auditors.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2010 to review the final
results for 2009 and the 2010 interim report. Attendance rate of the
members of the Audit Committee was 100%.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditors currently appointed by the Company are
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. and Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as its PRC and international auditors respectively.
In order to maintain their independence, these accountants do
not take on non-audit work. The work the external auditors are
engaged to perform must produce measurable efficiency and added
value to the Company and should not cause adverse effect on
the independence or independent standing of their audit function.
The remunerations of the auditors are disclosed in the financial
statements.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility in overseeing the
operation of all business units under the Company’s management. It
shall appoint suitable qualified personnel to serve on the boards of
all subsidiaries and associated companies operating in key business
areas, attending their board meetings to oversee the operations
of these companies. The management in each business division is
accountable for the operations and performance of the business
within its area of responsibility.

The Company’s management has implemented a system of internal
control to provide reasonable assurance that the Group's assets are
safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, applicable
laws and regulations are complied with, reliable financial information
are provided for the Company’'s management for publication
purposes and investment and business risks affecting the Group are
identified and properly managed.

The Directors of the Company review the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company and its subsidiaries at least
once every year. The scope of a review includes financial control,
operation control, compliance control and risks management
functions. The Board will also consider the sufficiency with respect
to the resources on accounting and financial reporting functions,
the staff's qualification and experience and the training programs
offered to them as well as the budget. As at 23 March 2011, the
Board has completed the aforementioned review for 2010 and the
Board is of the view that the Company's internal control system can
properly and effectively protect the investments of the shareholders
and the assets of the Group.
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DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

With the assistance of the accounting department, the Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements for each financial
year and ensuring that, in preparing such financial statements,
appropriate accounting policies are adopted and applied and the
PRC accounting standards and systems and International Financial
Reporting Standards are observed, to give a true and fair view of
the financial position and operating results of the Company. The
statement of the auditors about their responsibilities on the Group's
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report
on pages 41 to 43.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

After announcement of the Company’s interim and annual financial
results, the Company has proactively arranged for briefing meetings
for people from the investment community at regular intervals,
using the opportunity to promote investor relations and two-way
communication. The Company, through the investor relations
manager, responds to the information requests and inquiries
from the investment community. The Company also publishes
information such as the Company’s announcements and circulars on
its website in a timely manner under the requirements of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

The Company encourages shareholders to attend the annual
general meeting in which the Chairman and Directors will be on
hand to answer questions about the Company’s business raised by
shareholders. The Company distributes annual and interim reports to
shareholders in a timely manner for their inspection.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In 2011, the Company will continue to dedicate efforts into
enhancing the standard of its corporate governance according to the
ongoing regulatory changes, development trend of the Company,
and feedback opinions from shareholders, ensuring a stable and
healthy growth for the Company while adding value to shareholders.

By Order of the Board
WU Nianqing
Company Secretary

Chongging, the PRC
23 March 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF QINGLING MOTORS CO., LTD.
BRAEROGERDH

(a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company established
in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qingling
Motors Co., Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 44 to 122 which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December
2010 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23 March 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

HZ-Z-2F BE-EThE
+=A=t—-B +=A=+-H
LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
i3 AREFT AREFIT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Revenue B, 6 6,107,141 4,489,968
Cost of sales (5,246,792) (3,809,241)
Gross profit 860,349 680,727
Other income 144,452 138,455
Other gains and losses (91) 4,997
Distribution and selling expenses (486,602) (381,498)
Administrative expenses (154,547) (140,082)
Research expenses (8,150) (10,085)
Profit before tax 8 355,411 292,514
Income tax expense 7 (52,088) (57,354)
Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 303,323 235,160
Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 301,666 240,827
Non-controlling interests 1,657 (5,667)
303,323 235,160
Basic earnings per share 13 RMBO0.12 RMBO0.10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Bills receivables
Prepaid lease payments
Bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade, bills and other payables
Tax liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium and reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Hiit
NOTES

14
15
16
17
25

19
20
21
15

22
26

24

23

RZZ-ZF RWNIETNE
+=B=+t-H t=A=t-H
31/12/2010  31/12/2009
ANRETFTL ANREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
1,726,369 1,997,183
47,575 48,958
46,828 53,002
43,780 51,090
4,322 3,496
1,868,874 2,153,729
1,271,416 554,922
646,981 367,643
1,207,181 671,170
1,383 1,383
3,707,722 2,989,816
1,683,709 2,338,507
8,518,392 6,923,441
2,915,964 1,723,579
33,523 18,308
2,949,487 1,741,887
5,568,905 5,181,554
7,437,779 7,335,283
2,482,268 2,482,268
4,665,854 4,562,768
7,148,122 7,045,036
289,657 290,247
7,437,779 7,335,283

The consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 122 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23
March 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

LIU Guangming DIRECTOR
PAN Yong DIRECTOR



REEa®EH R CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B ZE2010F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
NAREREAEERE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FERER

EfRE

Equity

AELMEE  fELES attributable
KA  RAHRE EADEE  Statutory Discretionary  RERF tonon-  RREMG
Share Share Capital surplus surplus Retained @3t controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve fund reserve fund profits Total interests Equity

NRETFT ANEETT ARETFT AEETT AREFT AEETT AREFT ARETT AREFT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Wit s (Wit 19 (i 7))
(note a) {note 10) (note 11)

At 1 January 2009 2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 748,683 2,347 1,357,879 6,928,321 296,495 7,224,816
Profit for the year,
representing total
comprehensive income
for the year — — - - — 240,827 240,827 (5,667) 235,160
FREAR Appropriation for the year
— K27 — the Company - = = 25,072 - (25,072) — = =
— —EHBAR — a subsidiary - - - 1,948 - (1,948) - - -
DEFERRRHRRS Unclaimed H shares dividend of
prior year — — — — — 1 1 — 1
2008 final dividend paid (Note 12)
= = = = = (124,113) (124,113) = (124,113)
Dividend paid by a subsidiary
F[E to non-controlling interest = — — — — - - (581) (581)
At 31 December 2009 2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 775,703 2,347 1,447,574 7,045,036 290,247 7,335,283
Profit for the year,
representing total
comprehensive income for
the year — — — — — 301,666 301,666 1,657 303,323
FEAR Appropriation for the year
NG — the Company — — — 31,002 — (31,002 — = —
— —RHEAR — a subsidiary - - = 2,303 - (2,303) - — -
NEFERRRHRRS Unclaimed H shares dividend of
prior year — — — — — 1 1 — 1

XHZZENERHRE 2009 final dividend paid (Note 12)

(Hfzt12) - - - - — (198581  (198581) - (198581)

B R AR AR Dividend paid by a subsidiary

THRE to non-controlling interest = - — — — = = (2,247) (2,047)

W=E-FF+-A=t-H At 31 December 2010 2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 809,008 2,347 1,617,355 7148122 289,657 7437779

M et - Note:

(a) BRARNESFEE —EHARE (a) The capital reserve mainly includes an amount of approximately
572,206 000 L(ZZTZENF : AR RMB572,206,000 (2009: RMB572,206,000) which represents the excess of the
#572,206,0007T) KIE - HE A E value of the net assets immediately before the establishment of the Company
EEERIEREEARRAERKL injected into the Company by #2358 (%£E)HGR AR (“Qingling Group”) and
RAERASE(EE)GRAA(E ERTEABR AR ("Qingling”) as part of the reorganisation in 1994 which was
REBDRERSREGRAA(E approved by the State Administration of State-owned Assets, over the nominal
BRDEBARRRNEEFEUIES value of the 1,500,000,000 shares issued upon establishment of the Company of
—NAEFSEN M LBREAR RMB1,500,000,000.

&) X 3Z B BT % 7 1,500,000,000 A% &9
M A R #1,500,000,000 7t 2 i )
B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Release of prepaid lease payments
Depreciation of investment properties
Utilisation of allowance for obsolete inventories
Allowance for obsolete inventories
(Gain) loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
(Increase) decrease in inventories
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables
Increase in trade, bills and other payables

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

HE-2-%F HE-SIENE
t=B=t+-8 +t=A=+-H

LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFT ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
355,411 292,514
(100,639) (100,438)
299,306 338,475
5,161 —
10,612 10,130
1,383 1,350
6,174 6,174
(15,182) (34,693)
15,527 7,157
(622) 79
577,131 520,748
(716,839) 88,208
(295,108) (133,876)
(536,011) 68,062
1,192,372 555,034
221,545 1,098,176
(37,699) (40,004)
183,846 1,058,172
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Placement in fixed deposit with banks

Withdrawal in fixed deposit with banks

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible asset

Prepaid lease payment for land use right

Interest received

Collections of receivables from disposal of
property, plant and equipment in prior years

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholder
Unclaimed H shares dividend of prior year

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE (INCREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 1 JANUARY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 31 DECEMBER,
represented by bank balances and cash

BE-%-TF BE-RENF
t=B=t+-8 +t=A=+-H

LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
ARETFT ARETFT

RMB'000 RMB'000
(3,655,553) (2,949,364)
2,949,364 2,662,088
(43,616) (7,970)
(3,302) (9,512)
= (354)
88,922 122,265
26,368 108,251
(637,817) (74,596)
(198,581) (124,113)
(2,247) (581)
1 1
(200,827) (124,693)
(654,798) 858,883
2,338,507 1,479,624
1,683,709 2,338,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

1. GENERAL

The Company was registered in 1 Xiexing Cun, Zhong Liang Shan,
Jiu Long Po District, Chongging, PRC and engaged in the production
and sale of Isuzu light-duty trucks, multi-purposes vehicles, pick-
up trucks, medium and heavy-duty trucks, other vehicles and
automobile parts and accessories. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries and joint controlled entities are set out in notes 33 and
18 respectively.

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company is
Qingling Group (a state-owned enterprise established in Chongging,
PRC).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB") which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of new and
revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are
mandatorily effective for 2010 financial year ends.

The application of the new and revised Standards and
Interpretations in the current year has had no material effect on the
amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements and/or
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Cont'd)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

Standards, amendments and Interpretation that have been issued

but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)
HKFRS 9

HKAS 12 (Amendments)
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)
HKAS 32 (Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 14

(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 19

Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2010°

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets®
Financial Instruments*

Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets®

Related Party Disclosures®

Classification of Rights Issues’

Prepayments of a Minimum

Funding Requirement®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011, as

appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

5  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

The disclosure exemptions introduced in HKAS 24 (as revised
in 2009) may affect the disclosure of the consolidated financial
statements because the Group is a government-related entity.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised Standards, amendments or Interpretations
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’'s equity
therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
on or after 1 January 2010

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
on or after 1 January 2010 (Cont’d)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary
are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed
of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained profits). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.



e B3R MR

HZE2010E12A31B ILEE

3. FESFEREME
mEREEE(E)

FEEREEN B L AR B
25 (F)

R-E—FFE——AZ A%
B 5B 0B 2 A A A 2%
BB

IR A KB 2~ 7] & R 2 18 0 LA R
WHENBARMERATXNEE I
BRBELAERBER=(NE
) ZRHER =R DRE
Ao THREEETERNAEEK
ERZEMB AR ZIESIHE - FT
WREHEFZERE=FAERANE
HRERER °

HEEZEGER

AELTMPE MK —HAET
REFOHERNKEELTDES
REHI# BN ER  RIES
CREHIER - AEE R AL
S EEMENHARAZFHEEN
e o ARBEO(EHFESNER
MEE BfFE WARRXDE
FE& B 5l 1B 0 B4R B M IS R WA
SENERBERAH AKEHE

HKEAZEHEB 2R MEHRTIRN
$%l% (REZEHNER DD
PRAESH -

H> \# ># X H>

<

54

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
prior to 1 January 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the
same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill
or a bargain purchase gain being recognised where appropriate.
For decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration received and
the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was recognised in
profit or loss.

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities. The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled
entities using the proportionate consolidation method. The Group’s
share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of the jointly controlled entities are combined with the Group's
similar items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-
line basis. Transactions and balances between the Group and the
jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the jointly controlled entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Jointly controlled entities (Cont’d)

From 1 January 2010 onwards, upon disposal of a jointly controlled
entity that results in the Group losing joint control over that jointly
controlled entity, any retained investment is measured at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39. The
difference between the previous carrying amount of the jointly
controlled entity attributable to the retained interest and its fair
value is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the jointly controlled entity. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that jointly controlled entity on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that jointly controlled
entity would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when
it loses joint control over that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled
entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income from
a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress, except for
specialised production facilities and moulds, over their estimated
useful lives after taking into account of their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method.

Specialised production facilities and moulds which can be identified
in relation to specific production processes are depreciated by
reference to the expected production volume of these facilities and
moulds.

The estimated useful lives, residual values, the expected production
volume and the depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the assets (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Investment properties (Cont’d)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finances lease whenever the terms of lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in
the land element and building element of the lease at the inception
of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is released over the
lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases, in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.



e B3R MR

HZE2010E12A318 FEE

3. FESFEREME

B # BY
EREMREBASESE THA
T BY &Y Y 7 G A B & 15 B A

B - BMSHBI T & T IAMER -

BT 4 B TY 5 7K 5 [ B 52 A B X
(B A ULEEZKAN) B
XHARANRGEER B ST R
RBoBFRREABRAEEEE
BEES AR AERIERDE
ERTEZHRMENETHIREg
BHBRAKRERSELTRAL
REBEENAERFHANERH
ERaET - AFHEARECE
AXHIEBEEXEERAERR
BN B 75 & B (1 & K 2R A0 B AX
) B FE W BR S FB B T B0 FE WA
BRERAER -

3B K8 R RS

A € B8 1 FOR R 18 A 5T 81 PR 1E HY
HAREERURBEELEES
BEEBEREIER AR

A ERE RO R KRGS
P YE RO BE3R - f AN &= B 2 0t B 5T
BT ETEEBRHETRKER
AEFEAMEEAR - BIZIE
[7) 3 B8 KA &I ME KR 2 -

60

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss over
the useful lives of the related assets. Government grants that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt
with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group's
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary difference
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecognised.



e B3R MR

HZE2010E12A31B ILEE

3. FESFEREME
BRLEE (R
7% R 3% X

MAF N ELHEBER R -

P A %% % B (3 A BB IR B B 3% B
B)MABELE 2 BLEEERT
BATRAFRER

s HERMLEATKENEE
ABEHE A&

e NEEREFEEILENM
AER A2 HE

s ABHENFAXLEEFRE
=

s EBEEMFELFEANRKE

BRI

s BRAKM MEREME
RATERFAELERIHE
BVEE R

s BHRNUEMFAEEFEE
HREMBR

PAMELEZEBVEERR S
BUORBEVEEEANA LR
RERE BREM A HRAXE
Bo-WEANFELEZEVEER
TR AREEARELSME
FERERMBK -

63

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Intangible assets (Cont’d)
Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Research and development expenditure (Cont’d)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
asset is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets acquired separately.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, bills receivables, bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets of the Group are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been negatively affected. The objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The Group’s financial liabilities are mainly trade, bills and other
payables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade, bills and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.



e B3R MR

HZE2010E12A31B ILEE

3. FEEFERERME
¢RIAGE)
BH #5%

EEEEWBRRERE Z#ENE
MATREENEZNAKED
KEeEMEEZMBRZBRIBD
BB B R - Bl % BE B R
HOHMER - REUHHERA ST REE
FoEERmERMD B RER
RERAMEZZR  REZAME

R o

EEHMANMIRE TEER
EHEEWE - A A8 RE
HER BURBR2EBAELZ
FEHEEENREMNRKEZREZ
ZH RNIBERER -

4. EHFTERERRZERR
iR

EEAMEIFE 2 ANER S
RN AEB2EEHNARK
BEREMERN R EZEER
EE%E@¢&M%~%&&%

o ET RAABERE D IRBE K
ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁZl%ﬁﬁ
o BREETEANIER
FTELF o

fhEr R RRIRFA
TR - HEFTER

R - EJEﬁZ@ﬂqbﬂﬁ
STHIR MR - (B :
&E&%W'JW@QZ%%&
Hiz BRI /e R -

69

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to be
incurred to completion and disposal. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as
a result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in
response to severe consumer product industry cycles. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of inventory net of
allowance for obsolete inventories is RMB 1,271,416,000 (2009:
RMB554,922,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising on goods sold by the Group
to outside customers, net of discounts and sales related tax. The
following is an analysis of the Group’'s revenue from its major

products.
HZ2-Z-2F BE-EThF
+=RA=t+-B +t=A=t-H
LLFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010  31/12/2009
AEETT  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Sales of trucks and vehicles 5,825,200 4,332,546
Sales of automobile parts and accessories 281,941 157,422

6,107,141 4,489,968

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is currently engaged in the manufacture and sales of
six products — light-duty trucks, multi-purposes vehicles, pick-
up trucks, medium and heavy-duty trucks, other vehicles and
automobile parts and accessories and the chief operating decision
maker (i.e. the Company's directors) also review the segment
information by these categories to allocate resources to segments
and to assess their performance. The items related to the jointly
controlled entities under proportionate consolidation are not
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Principal business segments are as follows:

Light-duty trucks — manufacture and sales of light-duty
trucks

Multi-purposes vehicles ~—  manufacture and sales of
multi-purposes vehicles

Pick-up trucks — manufacture and sales of
pick-up trucks

Medium and — manufacture and sales of

heavy-duty trucks medium and heavy-duty trucks

Other vehicles — manufacture and sales of vehicles
other than those identified above

Automobile parts and — manufacture and sales of

accessories automobile parts and

accessories

(i) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by
operating segment:

For the year ended 31 December 2010

RESH
fUERE  ShEnE EfE pEREHE  HfE e 58
Medium
Light- Multi- and heavy- Automobile
duty  purposes Pick-up duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles  accessories Consolidated

NEBTL AR AEKTn  AEETn  AEETr  ARETr  ARETn
RMB000  AMBO000  AMB000  RMB000  AMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Segment revenue 2,930,144 21,929 1,694,472 1,182,865 362 277,369 6,107,141
Segment result 109,304 3914 123,576 24,767 28 (17,801) 244,008
Central administration costs (57,990)
Interest income 97,143
Other income 48,303

Items related to jointly
controlled entities under
proportionate consolidation 23947

Profit before tax 355,411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
(i) Segment revenues and results (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2009

RERMt
BHERE  SMENE E+2 hEREHE  HfRE kSt &
Medium
Light- Multi- and heavy- Automobile
duty  purposes Pick-up duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles  accessories Consolidated

NEETE  N\EETT  ARETr  ARETL  AREFr  AREFT  ARETR
AMB000  AMB'000  AMB'000  AMB'000  AMB'000  AMB'000  ARMB000

Segment revenue 2,016,563 19029 1,444,424 851,848 682 157422 4,489,968
Segment result 111,316 7420 20,835 44519 664 (10,592) 174,162
Central administration costs (37,957)
Interest income 96,887
Qther income 39,981

Items related to jointly
controlled entities
under proportionate
consolidation 19,441

Profit before tax 292,514

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
result represents the profit earned by or loss from each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, interest income,
non-recurring income/expenses, and the items related to jointly
controlled entities under proportionate consolidation. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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HZE2010F12A31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. 7HER ) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(i) »2PEERAE (ii) Segment assets and liabilities

AEBEEREBGBRREES D The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
W operating segment:

—E-EF+-_A=+—H 31/12/2010

#HERE  SUENE KFE HEREHE  AHRE RERAREH &a

Medium
Light- Multi- and heavy- Automobile
duty  purposes Pick-up duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles  accessories Consolidated

NEBTL AR ARKTn  AEETn  AEEFr  ARETr  ARETT
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  AMB'000  AMB000  AMB000  AMB'000

BE Assets
PHEE Segment assets 1,595,579 11,788 499,240 1,188,591 - 197,436 3,492,634
A RALEEE Interchangeably used assets
between segments
— 0% BERRE — property, plant and
equipment 726,038
— B tiie — prepaid lease payments 48,958
—FE — inventories 200,501
RENE Investment properties 46,828
ROGRRBIER Bank deposits and
hank balances 5,195,590
A AAREE Other unallocated assets 257,782
ERIAIAHE Items related to jointly
HE 2 LRI controlled entities under
EEREE proportionate consolidation 418,9%
GAEEE Consolidated total assets 10,387,266
Bff Liabilities
ARafk Segment ligbilities 701,523 8879 323,984 189,733 — 40,960 1,265,079
SRS - ERERRAERE Unallocated trade, bills and
other payables 1,696,032
AT AR A Other unallocated liabiities 31,756
ERLPIR GRS Items related to jointly
AR EREERR controlled entities under
proportionate consolidation 56,620
FROEE Consolidated total liabilities 2,949,487
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

31/12/2009

Assets
Segment assets

Interchangeably used assets
hetween segments
— property, plant and
equipment
— prepaid lease payments
— inventories
Investment properties
Bank deposits and
bank balances
Other unallocated assets
Items related to jointly
controlled entities
under proportionate
consolidation

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

Unallocated trae, bills and
other payables

Other unallocated liabilities

Items related to jointly
controlled entities under
proportionate consolidation

Consolidated total liabilities

&a

accessories Consolidated

8UBRE  SURRE R+E PERENE  AfRE RERHRIE
Medium
Light- Multi- and heavy- Automobile
duty  purposes Pick-up duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles
ANEETT  AEETT  ARETn  AREFn  ARETn  ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMBO00  AMB000  RMB'00  RMB000
892,893 3,067 319,575 959,239 106 133,259
348,294 3,672 146,577 67,574 38 15,885

AEFTT
RMB000

2,368,139

889,486
50,341
82,574
53,002

5,168,460
108,418

356,750

9077170

582,040

1,129,148
15,723

14,976

1,741,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
(ii) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° All assets are allocated to operating segments other than
interchangeably used assets between segments, investment
properties, bank deposits and bank balances, deferred tax
assets and other unallocated assets held by the head office;
and

° All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
liabilities related to interchangeably used assets between
segments and other unallocated liabilities of the head office.

The items related to jointly controlled entities under proportionate
consolidation are not allocated to operating segment assets and
liabilities. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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B ZE2010F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
6. 7HER (&) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
(iii) HEiopHER (iii) Other segment information
—_E-ZF 2010
RESH
AUERE  SMRAE B2 pHREHE  HighE Rt FIAR &&
Multi- Medium and Automobile

Light-duty  purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty Other  parts and

trucks  vehicles trucks trucks  vehicles accessories Unallocated Consolidated
NEETE \RETL ARETr AEEFr AEETn ARETr ARETr AREFr
RMB000  AMBO00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000

AhEH OTHER INFORMATION
AR BERT Amount included in
PHEEZER: the measure of

segment profit or loss or

segment assets:
REFEER Allowance for obsolete

inventories — — — 15,527 — — — 15,527
BHREFLER Utiisation of allowance for

(REEREH) obsolete inventories

{upon sale) (2,989) = (8,397) (2,731) (1,089) = - (15,182)
RENE  BRERZE Additions of property,

plant and equipment — — 18,720 — — — 17,838 36,558
RERVEE Additions of intangible

assets 3,302 — — — — — — 3302
BYAERS Amortisation of intangible

assets 4,809 63 — 5,740 — — — 10,612
0% BERRENE Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 73391 — 92,816 93,142 — — 39,957 299,306
ER T S Impairment for property,

plant and equipment — — — — — — 5,161 5,161
RENENE Depreciation of investment

properties — — — — — — 6,174 6,174
B tifcHE Release of prepaid lease

payments — — — — — — 1,383 1,383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(iii) Other segment information (Cont’d)

2009
RERH
BHUEAE SMENE  HFE PERERE  AfRE E#k  FAAR 58
Multi- Medium and Automobile

Light-duty  purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty Other  parts and

trucks  vehicles trucks trucks  vehicles accessories Unallocated Consolidated
NEETL AREFT ARETT AREFr ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

OTHER INFORMATION
Amount included in the
measure of segment
profit or loss or
segment assets:
Allowance for obsolete
inventories 2987 - - 4170 - - - 7,157
Utiisation of allowance for
obsolete inventories

upon sale) (5,428) (7111)(20,036) - 2,118 - - (34,693
Additions of property,

plant and equipment - — — 17 - - 8,695 8,712
Additions of intangible

assets 5,092 - - — — — — 5,092
Additions of prepaid lease

payment - - - - - - 9,673 9673
Amortisation of intangible

assets 3228 557 303 6,042 - - - 10,130
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 74,442 — 130,339 100,584 — — 33,110 338475
Depreciation of investment

properties - — - — - - 6,174 6,174
Release of prepaid lease

payments - — — — — — 1,350 1,350

(iv) Geographical information

Non-current assets of the Group amounting to RMB1,864,552,000
(2009: RMB2,150,233,000) are located in the People's Republic of
China (the “"PRC") and substantially all of the sales of the Group are
also made to customers located in the PRC. The Group has made
limited export sales to countries outside PRC which accounted for
approximately 0.70% (2009: 0.48%) of the Group's revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(iv) Geographical information (Cont’d)

All of the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to

property, plant and equipment are located in the PRC for both years

presented.

(v) Information about major customers

No revenues from a single external customer amount to 10% or

more of the Group’s revenue.

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BE-2-BF BE-ZThF

+ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

ARETT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Current tax 52,914 38,588
Additional tax paid by a subsidiary — 14,635
Deferred tax (credit) charge (Note 25) (826) 4,131
52,088 57,354

According to the Implementation of Transitional Preferential Policies
for Enterprise Income Tax by Guo Fa [2007] No. 39, the Group
continue to entitle the Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15% which is
applicable for companies located in the western zone of China up to
2010. The Company and EEEHZREAFR AT (“Qingling Moulds”),
a subsidiary of the Company, enjoy 15% income tax rate because
they both locate in western zone of China.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

HEBEHEMB L (“Qingling Technical Centre”) is a subsidiary of
the Company established in 1998 for research and development
activities and has not yet commenced business since its
establishment. During 2009, Qingling Technical Centre came into an
agreement with the local tax bureau and Qingling Technical Centre
paid a tax for the interest income it had accumulatively received in
prior years. An amount of RMB14,635,000 was then paid during the
prior year.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

BE-Z2-2% HECZTNF
+=A=t-B +=A=1+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
AREFIT AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Profit before tax 355,411 292,514
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 15%
(2009: 15%) 53,312 43,877
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purpose 694 537
Additional tax benefit and refund applicable to
the Group (note) (1,969) (2,010)
Effect of different tax rate in a subsidiary 51 315
Additional tax paid by a subsidiary — 14,635
Tax charge for the year 52,088 57,354
Note:

The additional tax benefit and refund applicable to the Group are as follows:

Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulation, expenses in research nature are
tax deductible at 150% of the cost incurred. The related tax benefit amounted to
RMB1,969,000 (2009: RMB2,010,000) for the year ended 31 December 2010.



e B3R MR

HZE2010E12A318 FEE

8. PBRFAIRF

BRBEATR A E R -

o REMEN X
USRI RERS

BEIRA(BRESRESHE (HEI))

REFEER (CEAHEKT)

BYEESH (Tt ABERL)

P Gl
Wk BERRERE
RENMENE

NE - BERRERNE

BNtiHEeEE (BEAABERE)

REMENFREERE REBENK

BR AL 2 FEERA

REHA :
BATERRAERZFISKA
HREEMEZ A
HRBARTAREZRA
HEE  BERREZRE (5E)

B a8
B g e

81

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax has been arrived at
after charging:

Salaries and other payments and benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Total staff costs (including directors” and
supervisors' remuneration (see note 9))

Allowance for obsolete inventories
(included in cost of sales)

Amortisation of intangible assets
(included in cost of sales)

Auditor's remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment properties

Impairment for property, plant and
equipment

Release of prepaid lease payments
(included in cost of sales)

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
in respect of rented premises and production
facilities

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense

and after crediting:

Interest income from bank deposits and balances
Income from renting of investment properties
Income from renting of moulds and tooling
equipment
Gain (loss) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Government grant
Net foreign exchange gain

BE-Z-Z% BE-ZThE
+ZA=+-B +=B=+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
ANREFT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
126,531 101,407
16,393 14,133
142,924 115,540
15,627 7,157
10,612 10,130
3,051 2,982
299,306 338,475
6,174 6,174
5,161 —
1,383 1,350
22,969 18,933
5,246,792 3,809,241
100,639 100,438
6,120 6,120
33,240 30,180
622 (79)
4,890 1,175
4,448 5,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

9. EEREEM 9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS
ke ke
BeR f BiER Bty BiER
RERA Pefomance  HEER BHEA Pefomance  HEER
Salaries related  Refiement  —3-FF Salaries related  Refiement  “ZEAE
and incentive benefit 210 and  incentive benefit 2009
he other  payments scheme i he other  payments scheme i
Fee benefits [notg] - contributions Total Fee benefits [notg] - contributions Total
A A A NREFT  ARE NEEFT  NRET 5 TE T
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
s Executive directors
R2 Wu Yun - 30 - 8 350 - 87 - 7 304
BRR Gao Jianmin - i} - § 0 - 2% - 1 202
BRHA Makoto Tanaka - - - - - - - - - -
e Liu Guangming - i} - 8 K] - i - 1 2602
bt} Pan Yong = 23 = 8 30 - i) - I 262
fEY Yue Huagiang - 293 - 8 301 - i) = 7 262
RES Naotoshi Tsutsumi - - - - - - - - - -
FILER) Masanori Katayama - - ~ - - - - - = =
- 1514 - i 1,554 - 1317 - 3% 1352
BUknfES Independent non-
executive directors
E ] Long Tao - - - - - - - - - -
RINL Song Xiaojieng - - - - - - - - - -
iz % XuBingjn - - - - - - - - - -
EEMe Supervisors'
remuneration
R Min Qing - i 8 8 1 - 3 i 1 101
FES Thang Wanjin - 16 5 b n - 10 k) 3 ]
L Zhou Hong - 0 6 7 90 - 15 8 5 68
) Theng Gang - - - - - - 17 5% i} 7
= 64 1% 0 28 - i) 200 il 23
Hiat © DBERED2EERREFNES Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference to

REBE YHHFMEESS(H—
RATEER=ZRBIUIRTES
AR Az

the individual performance of the directors and supervisors and approved by
the Remuneration Committee (composed by one executive director and three
independent non-executive directors).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Cont'd)

No directors waived any emoluments in the year ended 31
December 2010 (2009: nil).

All the five highest paid individuals of the Group for both years were
directors.

10. TRANSFER TO STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

The statutory surplus reserve fund represents the appropriation
of 10% of profit after taxation for the year of the Company and
its subsidiary — Qingling Moulds, calculated in accordance with
relevant Accounting Standards for Enterprises in PRC (“PRC GAAP")
and the Articles of Association of the Company and Qingling
Moulds. The appropriation may cease to apply if the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered
share capital of the Company and Qingling Moulds respectively.
According to the Articles of Association of the Company and
Qingling Moulds, statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to
make up prior year losses, to expand production operations or to
increase capital. The Company and Qingling Moulds may capitalise
the statutory surplus reserve fund by way of bonus issues provided
that the remaining amount of statutory surplus reserve fund after
such distribution shall not be less than 25% of the registered
capital of the Company and Qingling Moulds. The amount shall be
submitted to shareholders’ general meeting for approval.

11. TRANSFER TO DISCRETIONARY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

No amount was appropriated to the discretionary reserve fund
in 2010 (2009: nil). The balance amounting to RMB 2,347,000 of
the discretionary reserve fund was the amount appropriated by a
subsidiary of the Company — Qingling Moulds in previous years at
a percentage of the profit after taxation of the respective years in
accordance with PRC GAAP and Articles of Association of Qingling
Moulds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

12. DIVIDEND
BE-2-BF BE-SThF
+=R=t-B +t=A=t-H
LLFE ILFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
AEETT  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Dividends recognised as distributions
during the year:
2009 Final, paid — RMB0.08
(2009: 2008 Final, paid RMB0.05) per share 198,581 124,113

A final dividend amounting to RMB248,227,000 of RMB0.10 per
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: final
dividend amounting to RMB198,581,000 of RMBO0.08 per share
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009) per share has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings
BE-2-2F BE-ZThF
+=A=+-8 t=A=t-A
LFEE LFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
ARETT ARET T

RMB'000 RMB'000

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
per share (Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company) 301,666 240,827

Number of shares

BE-Z-ZF HE-ZZAF
+=A=+-B +t=A=t-H
LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
AREFT AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Number of shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 2,482,268 2,482,268

There were no potential ordinary shares in both years presented.



RE B WK ME NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ZE2010F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
14. N¥ BERZE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BE -HE HR %E
R##E K&
Moulds,  Furniture, RE HERIE
#F  plantand fixtures and Motor Construction @zt
Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total

NERTE  ARRTL ARETT AREFT AREFT  ARETT
RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO000

RAE COST
W=ZENE-A—H At 1 January 2009 510530 3,720,860 68761 24,377 2,014 4346542
NE Additions = 64 = = 8,648 8,712
ERORETR Transfer from construction
in progress 226 7,163 - 592 (7,981) —
it Disposals - (50) - (802) - 852)
RZEENF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2009 510,756 3,728,037 68,761 24,167 22681 4,354,402
NE Additions 105 3,580 = 34 32,839 36,558
ERARRIRE Transfer from construction
in progress 12,362 2,347 — 119 (14,828) =

HE Disposals (4171) (1,627) - (359) - 6,157)
RZZ-ZF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2010 519,052 3,732,337 68,761 23,961 40692 4,384,803
ik DEPRECIATION
W=EZn5-A-H At 1 January 2009 252,191 1,692,644 55,484 19,191 — 2019510
FRER Provided for the year 22,581 312,368 2,011 1515 — 338,475
LERH Eliminated on disposals — (45) — (721) — (766)
RZEENF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2009 274,772 2,004,967 57,495 19,985 — 2357219
FREE Provided for the year 23,547 273458 1,535 766 299,306
i E Eliminated on disposals (1,690) (1.239) (323) 3,252)
R=E-2%+-A=1-H At 31 December 2010 296,629 2,277,186 59,030 20,428 2,653,273
HE IMPAIRMENT
RZEENE-A—H At 1 January 2009 - - — — — -
FREE Provided for the year — - = = = —
R-FENF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2009 = = = = = =
EEEE () Provided for the year (note) 5,161 — — — - 5,161
RZE-ZF+-F=t-H At 31 December 2010 5,161 - = = = 5,161
RAE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-2F+-A=1-H At 31 December 2010 217,262 1,485,151 9,731 3,533 40692  1726,369
RZEENF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2009 235,984 1,723,070 11,266 4182 22681 1997,183
Ka: ERHRREEENS TEFIR Note:  An impairment of RMB5,161,000 (2009: nil) were provided on certain buildings

REEEARS,161,000T(=F which will be rebuilt in the coming year. The cost of such buildings as of 31

TNEFE D)  ZEEFR=_ZT— December 2010 were RMB20,245,000, with the accumulated depreciation of

ZFEF+_A=F+—HZHRAEABAR RMB15,084,000.

#20,245,0007C - 2B E A A
R 15,084,000 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20 years

Moulds, plant and machinery, except for 10 years
specialised production facilities and moulds

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Specialised production facilities and moulds included in moulds,
plant and machinery which can be identified in relation to specific
production processes are depreciated by reference to the expected
production volume of these facilities and moulds. Other moulds,
plant and machinery which are for general production purposes are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of moulds and
machinery that has been leased out was RMB642,535,000 (2009:
RMB704,397,000).



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BZE2010F12A31 R ILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

15. AN L#HEE 15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

R-%-%F R-SEAF
+2A=+-B +ZA=f-A
31/12/2010  31/12/2009
ARBFT — AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

AEEMBEATHREaE: The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise:
R Bl L P A Medium-term land use right in PRC 48,958 50,341
REmEME 2T A Analysis for reporting purpose as:
EmBEE Non-current asset 47,575 48,958
MBEE Current asset 1,383 1,383

48,958 50,341
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

—B-%F “EZENF
2010 2009
AEETT AEETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
COST
At 1 January and 31 December 125,962 125,962
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 72,960 66,786
Provided for the year 6,174 6,174
At 31 December 79,134 72,960
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 46,828 53,002

Since 2007, the Company leased out certain properties to its jointly
controlled entity, Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd. (E$%
T84 (EE)EFE AR AR, “Qingling Isuzu Engine”), for an initial
term of 3 years. These properties were reclassified from property,
plant and equipment to investment properties. In December 2010,
the Company renewed the lease contracts with Qingling Isuzu
Engine for the terms of 3 years.

Gross rental income from investment properties amounted to
RMB1,020,000 (2009: RMB1,020,000) per month.

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC with
medium lease term and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
20 years.

The Group management is unable to arrive at the fair value of the
investment properties as the comparable market transactions are
infrequent and alternative reliable estimates are not available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

RmE=RE
Technology transfer fees
=l
2010 2009
AEETT  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

COST

At 1 January 290,685 285,593
Additions 3,302 5,092
At 31 December 293,987 290,685
AMORTISATION

At 1 January 239,595 229,465
Provided for the year 10,612 10,130
At 31 December 250,207 239,595
CARRYING AMOUNT

At 31 December 43,780 51,090

Payments of technology transfer fees and lump sum royalties
under technology transfer agreements with Isuzu Motors Limited
(“Isuzu”), the substantial shareholder of the Company, are
capitalised as intangible assets and are amortised over license
period ranging from ten years to thirteen years, commencing from
the use of the technologies in production. Continuing royalties
payable to Isuzu under the technology transfer agreements are
charged to the expenses as and when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Qingling Isuzu Engine was established in May 2007, and is mainly
engaged in manufacture of engines and relevant parts. The
registered capital is US$84,260,000, and the Company contributed
US$42,130,000, approximately RMB307,743,000 to Qingling
Isuzu Engine. The Company and Isuzu held 50% of issued capital
respectively.

Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Automobile Sales and Service Co., Ltd.
(Bi A TR(ER)ABEHEERBEHR AR, “Qingling Isuzu Sales”) was
established in September 2008 for the purpose of selling of Isuzu
automobiles and parts, and currently inactive. The registered capital
is US$4,600,000, and the Company contributed US$2,300,000,
approximately RMB15,714,000 to Qingling Isuzu Sales. The
Company and Isuzu held 50% of issued capital respectively.

R-_E—ZFF+_-_HA=+—H " As at 31 December 2010, the Group had interests in the following
REBRTHHERZEGEERES jointly controlled entity:
s
AEEER
ZBET
RAHEELL S
Proportion
of nominal BE2
EBEBHRS value of RERELH
Form of IMRIE FEEEHY issued capital  Proportion of
EREE business Place of Principal place held by  voting power FEEH
Name of entity structure establishment of operation the Group held Principal activities
BERATHREDK HfR H H B 50% 50% EEKRIAE
Qingling Isuzu Engine  Incorporated ~ PRC PRC B e Bk
Manufacture

ERDTRHEE

Qingling Isuzu Sales

& i Ak L

Incorporated
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G
PRC

of engines and
relevant parts

H B 50% 50% SHEATHR
PRC B R
(BEEE)
Selling of Isuzu
automobiles and
parts (Inactive)



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2010F12A31B ItEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
18. RHEREFH EEELS (H) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)
AEBRARIEH EEEDRBAR The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
SEER ZUHBERF AL interest in jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group's
BHERER  WHERBEZWR)Han interest therein which is accounted for using proportionate
T consolidation with the line-by-line reporting format is set out below:
=
2010 2009
AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 270,513 181,741
ERBEE Non-current assets 148,422 175,009
nRERE Current liabilities 56,620 14,976
E =Y Non-current liabilities — —
RERTNERMKA Income recognised in profit or loss 751,281 525,869
RNERZRARRNFRZ Expenses recognised in profit or loss 730,740 507,580
FRAET Profit for the year 20,541 18,289
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BZE2010F12A31 R ILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

19. & 19. INVENTORIES

RZE-2F RNIETNE
+ZR=+-B +t=ZA=+-H
31/12/2010  31/12/2009
ANREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

R Raw materials 805,288 336,780
RS Work in progress 130,267 129,202
2K G Finished goods 335,861 88,940

1,271,416 554,922

20. FEWRR K H i B WK IR 20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(a) MEEEER  EBUWESR KL (a) At the end of the reporting period, the balance of trade and
Hitn W RIBE R BIEAT other receivables includes amounts due from Qingling Group
FEWEE R & B R E [t B A Al and its subsidiaries as follows:

2 FRIE

R=8-8%F R-BRAE
+=A=t+-8 +=A=t-8
31/12/2010  31/12/2009
ARBFT ~ AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

BEREE Qingling Group 224,795 153,992
BREEZHBAR Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 125,037 91,014
349,832 245,006
EWERER 2B AR 2 HIE Receivables from subsidiaries of Qingling Group were in trade
RESME  REARB=FEANA - nature and aged within 3 months.
FHREREBEZLRBARE Receivables from Qingling Group of RMB224,795,000 (2009:
224,795,000 T (= & & 1 F : RMB131,151,000) are trade in nature, of which RMB208,361,000
AR #131,151,0007T) & & 5 & (2009: RMB79,752,000) are aged within 6 months and
g Hf AR % 208,361,000 ¢ RMB16,434,000 are aged over 6 months (2009: RMB51,399,000).

(ZZEZTh& : AR¥79,752,000
T)ZEREBHAESNEARN AR
16,434,000 (ZZEZE N F : A
R #51,399,0007T ) 2 BR #% B i@ 7~
@A -

o8
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20. FEUW AR K H fth FE WK TR
(4)

b)) RHEHHR  AEELRHE
ZHM25 2 KRR - 11
BREBR  BREDNWOT :

3fEA AR
3Z6M@A
721284
15826
26 F

Bt MR
RHEMEER
EE

R—_E—ZTFE+-_A=+—H "
A R # 6,800,000 T(=— & =
£ : AR #7,352,0007T) FE U BF
REREMEWFIBLLBEZE -
MIENSEBERE 2NEEES
& o

AEEREATAFEFA B
RANNBEETRRES - ARG
BEBEPZEEEZEATEEE
ELR -G TEPZEREFR
HEFERITMR 9% (ZET N
F 1 98%)I K B B KR (B 2 FE
RREANKERB QAN ZE
EFEEARTRESRREENR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of
trade receivables presented based on invoice date, net of
allowances, of the Group is as follows:

RZE-2F RIESNE
+=B=+t-H t=A=t-H

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

ARETFT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Within 3 months 192,476 186,232
Between 3 to 6 months 152,201 3,700
Between 7 to 12 months 329 51,399
Between 1 to 2 years 16,586 =
Over 2 years 19 274
361,611 241,605

Other receivables 35,318 32,140
Prepaid value-added tax 109,978 —
Prepayments 140,074 93,898
646,981 367,643

As at 31 December 2010, trade and other receivables of
RMB6,800,000 (2009: RMB7,352,000) were denominated in
Japanese Yen (“JPY"), other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. 99% (2009:
98%) of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
have the best credit scoring attributable under the external credit
scoring system used by the Group.
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(%)

(b)) RHMEBPHR  AKEZRHE
K HMZE7 2 &R
BRERR  REINWT
(&)

HEEmZEEHA3E6MEA -

ATARNEEEKREREHAERTA
BEHAR®E16,934,000 L (= EF
hF : 49 AR#51,673,0007T) 2
FEWFRIE - s R IE R RS B E R
B2 H - BAEEI R EREE
BEME  Hi AR 16,434,000
TARKERER - NEBREA
ZENFE R KRR - B8
R REZIBIE o A& EIW R
Pz E W GRIBLE R IFE ERE
ﬁ o

FFABNREARABERZ —
TEFEF+ A=+ —HEBILH
MEEEEMN ZREBHOARE
131,022,000 TL(ZEE L F : A
K #82,249,0007T ) °

©) RHEPHR  AKEER
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1524
265k

95

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of
trade receivables presented based on invoice date, net of
allowances, of the Group is as follows: (Cont'd)

The credit period granted on sales of goods is 3 to 6 months.

Included in the Group’'s trade receivable balance are debtors
with a carrying amount of approximately RMB16,934,000 (2009:
approximately RMB51,673,000) which are past due at the end
of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss, of which RMB16,434,000 is due from Qingling
Group. The Group does not consider any risk on subsequent
collections, and all of these receivables are expected to be settled in
the coming year. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Included in prepayments is an amount of approximately
RMB131,022,000 (2009: RMB82,249,000) related to the advance
payment to independent suppliers of steel as of 31 December 2010.

(c) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
receivables of the Group which are past due but not impaired,
net of allowances, is as follows:

R-%-%F R-SEAF
+2A=+-B +ZA=f-A

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEETT AEETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Between 7 to 12 months 890 51,389
Between 1 to 2 years 16,586 —
Over 2 years 19 274
16,934 51,673
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

R-%-%F R-SEAF
+2A=+-B +ZA=f-A

31/12/2010  31/12/2009

AREFT AEEFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Balance at beginning and ending of the year 4,595 4,595

Allowance for doubtful debts are provided for individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of RMB4,595,000
(2009: RMB4,595,000) which are in financial difficulties.

21. BILLS RECEIVABLES

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of bills
receivables of the Group is as follows:

R-%-%F R-SEAF
+=A=t+-8 +=A=t+-8

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFTT AREFTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 309,036 113,315
Between 1 to 2 months 274,125 130,259
Between 2 to 3 months 188,887 130,012
Between 4 to 6 months 435,133 297,584
1,207,181 671,170

All the above bills receivables are guaranteed by banks and their
expiry dates ranged from 30 to 180 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

22. BANK DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY MORE
THAN THREE MONTHS

The amounts represented bank fixed deposits with original maturity
of 6 to 12 months and carried fixed interest rate. Their respective
interest rates are ranging from 2.25% to 2.75% (2009: 2.25% to
2.52%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2010, fixed deposits amounting to
RMB13,084,000 (2009: RMB29,693,000) were denominated in
United State Dollar (“USD"), other than the functional currency of
the respective group entities.

23. SHARE CAPITAL

—%-B5R
=2 2V
2010 and 2009
NEHBFT
RMB’000

Registered, issued and fully paid 2,482,268

RAHEA
Number of shares
—F-BFR
“ZENF

2010 and 2009
T

‘000

Shares of RMB1 each

— Domestic shares 1,243,616
— H shares 1,238,652

2,482,268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

23. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Domestic shares are ordinary shares subscribed for and credited
as fully paid up in Renminbi by PRC government and/or entities
established in PRC. H Shares are ordinary shares subscribed for
in Hong Kong Dollar and credited as fully paid up in Renminbi by
persons other than PRC government and/or entities established in
PRC.

Domestic shares and H shares rank pari passu in all respects with
each other.

Domestic shares are not freely traded in The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

There were no change in the registered, issued and fully paid share
capital of the Company during both years.

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

(@) At the end of the reporting period, the balances of trade
payables included the amounts due to Isuzu and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Isuzu (China) Holding Co., Ltd. (hereafter
collectively referred to as “lsuzu Group"”), subsidiaries of
Qingling Group and Qingling Isuzu Engine as follows:

R=%-%F R-BENF
t=A=t+-8 t=A=+-H

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEETT  ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Isuzu Group 88,052 71,070
Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 8,618 2,133
Qingling Isuzu Engine 31,570 11,065
128,240 90,258

These amounts are in trade nature, unsecured, interest free and the
credit period granted on purchases of materials is 3 to 6 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
and bills payables of the Group is as follows:

R=%-%F R-BENF
t=A=t+-8 t=A=+-H

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Within 3 months 1,332,522 888,795
Between 3 to 6 months 228,535 172,336
Between 7 to 12 months 3,631 706
Over 12 months 50,522 32,460
1,615,110 1,094,297

Accrued selling expenses 270,652 245,726
Value added tax payables 19,662 25,584
Other payables 40,033 36,831
Advance from customers 970,507 321,141
2,915,964 1,723,579

The balance of advance from customers at the end of the reporting
period represents the advance received for the subsequent sales of
trucks and vehicles and automobile parts and accessories.

At the end of the reporting period, trade and other payables
amounted to RMB88,052,000 (2009: RMB76,944,000) are
denominated in JPY, other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

25. EEFIE 25. DEFERRED TAXATION
LNTAERNFEEZEBANEEIE The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
EMIBEEREE movements thereon during the current year:
ME - BEK
RERE RiERE @t

Impairment of

Allowance for property, plant

inventories and equipment Total

AREFT AREFT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

R=ZEZNF—FA—R At 1 January 2009 7,627 — 7,627
FTABR Charge to profit or loss (4,131) = (4.131)
RZZZNF+=A=1+—H At 31 December 2009 3,496 — 3,496
HFAER Credit to profit or loss 52 774 826
RZZE—FF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2010 3,548 774 4,322

26. RITHERRES 26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
IRITE A ™ 5 F 7 X £0.36%
—EETNE :0.36%) o LAEEE
BERENIDEEEUINEEE
RIRITHEBG IR SHIWOT

The market interest rate of bank balances is 0.36% (2009: 0.36%)
per annum. The bank balances and cash that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

R-B-BF RIBEhF

+=RA=+—-B t=ZA=t-H

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEEFT — ARETT

RMB'000 RMB’000

e usD 8,127 31,663
AE JPY 11,291 40,908
BT European Dollar (“"EUR") 3,862 =
BT Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") 62 —
23,342 72,461
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained
profits and other reserves,.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from
time to time. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

BE-2-BF BE-BThF
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
LLFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
AEETT AEETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets
Loan and receivables
Trade receivables 361,611 241,605
Other receivables 35,318 32,140
Bills receivables 1,207,181 671,170
Bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months 3,707,722 2,989,816
Bank balances and cash 1,683,709 2,338,507
6,995,541 6,273,238
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost
Trade and bills payables 1,615,110 1,094,297
Accrued selling expenses 270,652 245,726
Other payables 40,033 36,831
1,925,795 1,376,854
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bills receivables, bank deposits, bank balances and cash
and trade, bills payables and other payables. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (interest rate
risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. There has been
no significant change to the Group’s exposure to these risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures these risks. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Several entities of the Group have foreign currency purchases,
sales, which expose the Group to currency risk. The Group
considers the currency risk insignificant and does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency risk.
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rate.
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B E2010F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
28. £@ T A (&) 28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) BIEEBMEEEERKE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)
(4&)
% B (7E) Market risk (Cont’d)
(i) SMEE (&) (i)  Currency risk (Cont'd)
LATR A& 7N & B 72 3] &5 2 B2 2R BA ) The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated
BAEBEGFEMNERKR 2EESE monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are subject to currency
EXNEBEEZERAEME risk at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
af EE
Liabilities Assets

“E-%F CEEAF CE-BF CREAS
t=A t=A t=A t=A
=t-R =+-B =1-H =t-H
31/12/2010  31/12/2009  31/12/2010  31/12/2009
ABRTT  ARBTT ARETT ARETR
RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000

e usb — — 21,211 61,246
B JPY 88,052 76,944 18,091 48,260
BT EUR — — 3,862 —
BT HKD — — 62 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuations in USD and
JPY.

The following table details the Group’'s sensitivity to a 5%
increase in the RMB against USD and JPY. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the period end for a 5% change in RMB against USD and JPY.
A (negative) and positive number below indicates a (decrease)
and increase in profit for the year, respectively, where the RMB
strengthen 5% against USD and JPY. For a 5% weakening of the
RMB against USD and JPY, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit for the year.

—E-3F  CBEAF
2010 2009
ARETFT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Profit or loss
usb (910) (2,603)
JPY 2,973 1,219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank deposits.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of deposit interest rate arising from the Group's bank
balances.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to bank balances carried prevailing deposit interest rate
at the end of the reporting period. 0.27% (2009: 0.27%) increase
or decrease in interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 0.27% higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB3,864,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: increase/decrease by
RMB5,367,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its bank balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debtors. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debtor at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on amounts due from related parties is limited
because the Group also periodically evaluated the related parties’
credit rating and these related parties credit rating is high.

There is concentration of credit risk on amounts due from related
parties, which have been disclosed in note 20 and the Group
periodically evaluated the related parties credit rating and also look
for more non-related party customers. Apart from that, the Group
does not have significant concentration of credit risk on trade and
other receivables, with exposure spread over a number of counter-
parties and customers. The credit risk on liquid fund which are
deposited with several banks is limited because the Group's bank
deposits and bank balances are deposited with authorised banks in
the PRC with high credit-ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on
cash generated from operating activities as a significant source
of liquidity. For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
has cash generated from operating activities of approximately
RMB183,846,000 (2009: RMB1,058,172,000), trade receivables
and bills receivables can be received within six months based on
the earliest date on which the Group can require payments and
bank balances can be drawn on demand. The directors believe that
the Group will have sufficient funds available to meet its financial
obligations in the foreseeable future based on management working
capital forecast.

The following tables detail the Group’'s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

T
BBz Eit]

Weighted BeREAE FAZEEE
average  HIMfAR MERR1E Total Carrying
effective ~ Less than 12384 3 months  undiscounted amount

interest rate 1month  1-3 months tolyear  cashflows atyearend
NEETT  NEETT  AREFR AREFL ARETR
% RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000

At 31 December

2010
Trade and bills

payables - 960,335 381476 273,299 1,615,110 1,615,110
Qther payables - 119,368 81,177 110,140 310,685 310,685

1,079,703 462,653 383,439 1,925,795 1,925,795

At 31 December

2009
Trade and bills

payables - 555,476 319,156 219,665 1,094,297 1,004,297
Other payables - 62,010 91,137 129410 282,557 282,557

617,486 410,293 349,07 1,376,854 1,376,804

(¢) Fair values

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates
from observable current market transactions as inputs.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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HZ2010F12A318 IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
29. MEARS &8 29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
N B REE AR E R The Group's related party balances are set out in notes 20 (a) and 24
20(a) }224(a) (a).
REENRN  KNEBHEBEFET During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
THRS with related parties:
(i) EHEREEREMBATHN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
x5
(a) EXREBRLRESREEE (a)  Qingling Group and certain subsidiaries of Qingling Group
Tt 8 A Al
XEBEE Type of transaction
HZ2-Z-2F BE-EThF
+ZA=t-B +=ZA=1+-AH
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
HERR Sales of chassis 605,351 88,559
HETHHREME Sales of parts and raw materials for the
WEEESETHMH (1) manufacture of automobile parts (Note 1) 87,342 33,740
HEWE  BELREE (FFF2) Sales of property, plant and equipment (Note 2) 940 —
BESETIHMH (K 3) Purchases of automobile parts (Note 3) 25,661 45,024
HEEES L Expenses for renting warehouse 6,036 6,040
BEREI L Expenses for renting equipment 1,380 1,380
RBES L Service fee expense 300 300
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29.

(i)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries

(Cont'd)

Note 1: Included in the 2010 amount are RMB6,331,000 (2009: RMB5,384,000),

RMB64,831,000 (2009: RMB25,921,000) and RMB15,962,000 (2009: nil)
representing the sales of parts and raw materials to EEFEE L /TEHEINED M
SLERR AR (“Qingling Jijia”), BEERTE FREBEERAF
Shangzhuang”) and EEERAEREIBERAE]
respectively during the current year. Qingling Jijia, Qingling Shangzhuang and

("Qingling
("Qingling Chassis")

Qingling Chassis are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Qingling Group.

Note 2: Included in the 2010 amount are RMB338,000 (2009: nil) representing the

sales of property, plant and equipment to Qingling Chassis during the current

year.

Note 3: Included in the 2010 amount are RMB4,581,000 (2009: RMB5,700,000),

RMB15,456,000 (2009: RMB34,182,000) and RMB4,564,000 (2009: nil)
representing the purchases of automobile parts from Qingling Jijia, Qingling
Shangzhuang and Qingling Chassis respectively during the current year.

Other than the amounts included in Note 1~3, the remaining
transaction amounts arise from the transactions with Qingling
Group.



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E2010F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
29. BEARS k(A 29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’d)
(i) EEREEREMEBEATN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
X5 (&) (Cont’d)
b) EREEZWEBARE (b) BEEERBEERZAR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

EERBERRAA

XEEH Type of transaction
BE-Z-2% HE-ZETHF
+=ZA=+t-B +=ZA=1+-AH
LEE LFEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
AREFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERETHH Purchases of automobile parts 21,107 11,873
HESBHEREMHAREE TBT M Sales of parts and raw materials for the
manufacture of automobile parts 20,382 15,725
MfEREL Expenses for renting equipment 1,893 1,664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont'd)

() EEERBEER AR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-2-BF BE_RThF

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

ARETT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchases of automobile parts 42,661 30,755
Sales of parts and raw materials for the

manufacture of automobile parts 2,345 2,224

Expenses for renting equipment 10,462 8,642

Rental income from renting of building — 200

(d) EEERERAERAF, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-Z-2F BECZTHF

+=A=+-B +t=A=t-H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFIT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Purchases of automobile parts 378,938 322,005
Sales of parts and raw materials for the

manufacture of automobile parts 70,996 60,527
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont'd)

(e) EEELHBEEBAR AT, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-2-BF BE_BTAF

t=A=+-B +t=A=t-H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEETT  AERETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchases of automobile parts 64,202 43,114
Sales of parts and raw materials for the

manufacture of automobile parts 13,433 9,385

() EEEHBBEARAT, a subsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-Z-2F BECZTHF

+=A=+-B +t=A=t-H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFIT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Purchases of automobile parts 73,755 63,818
Sales of parts and raw materials for the

manufacture of automobile parts 8,636 14,175
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont'd)

() EEEHRBIEER AR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-2-BF BE_RThF

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

ARETT ARETr

RMB'000 RMB'000

Purchases of automobile parts 16,417 8,843
Sales of parts and raw materials for the

manufacture of automobile parts 1,432 956

(ii) Transactions with Isuzu Group that is controlled by Isuzu

Type of transaction

HZ-Z-2F HE-ETHF

+=A=+-A +=A=t-8

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Purchases of parts and components 1,597,549 822,927

Rovyalties on sale of trucks and other vehicles 67,911 48,480
Sales of accessory sets and other automobile

parts and components 49,815 21,863

Technical transfer fee — 5,092
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’d)

(iii) Transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine, a jointly
controlled entity of the Group

Type of transaction

BE-2-%F BE-BEINF

+=A=t-R +=A=+-H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AREFT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Sales of accessory sets and raw materials 1,012,358 766,933
Purchases of automobile parts 1,485,174 1,051,440
Rental income for investment properties 12,240 12,240
Rental income for moulds and tooling equipment 66,480 60,360
Consolidated services income 1,918 1,610

Above transactions represented the total amounts before
elimination of the Group's interests of 50% in the jointly controlled
entity based on proportionate consolidation.

(iv) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities
in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled
by the PRC government (“state-controlled entities”). In addition, the
Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under Qingling
Group which is controlled by the PRC government. Apart from the
transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries disclosed in
section (i) above, the Group also conducts businesses with other
state-controlled entities. The directors of the Company consider
those state-controlled entities are independent third parties so far as
the Group's business transactions with them are concerned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(Cont'd)

(iv) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

in the PRC (Cont'd)

Material transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

HEMEEEENEARS &
T are as follow:
BE-Z-%% BE-ZENE
+=ZA=+-B +=A=+-H
EFE EEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
ARETFTT AEEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BHHE Trade sales 1,766,140 1,059,664
BH5E Trade purchases 889,772 682,646
R-E-25 RZBERF
+ZA=+-B +=ZA=+-H
31/12/2010 31/12/2009
ANREFT ANEEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
EREMEEERNE S RE bR Trade and other balances due to other
state-controlled entities 439,664 194,316
EREME=EEBRNES K EAER Trade and other balances due from other
state-controlled entities 408,859 211,546

o AEBRBERBBIED

In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions,
HETEREEREMNRTRUE
WEBETZERXS  BREARR
% K [m A B BT A R IE B IR
ARER BEREM—BIRT
BMERY - ERBFRITRIH
ME ZFEERRELENKREL
BmEE-

including utilities services and surcharges/taxes charged by the
PRC government, and deposits and borrowings and other general
banking facilities with certain banks and financial institutions which
are state-controlled entities in its ordinary course of business. In
view of the nature of these banking transactions, the directors are
of the opinion that separate disclosure would not be meaningful.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(iv) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Except as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that transactions with other state-controlled entities are not
significant to the Group's operations.

(v) Compensation of directors and key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follow:

BE-2-BF BE-RTHF

t=A=1t-A t=A=t+-*H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEETT  ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Short-term benefits 2,667 2,364
Post-employment benefits 103 95
2,770 2,459
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

30. COMMITMENTS

(a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following

capital commitments:

R-B-FF
+ZA=1+-H
31/12/2010
AEETT
RMB’000
Contracted for but not provided in
the consolidated financial statements
in respect of acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 11,263
Approved by the directors but not contracted
for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 241,419

R-BFERE
t=A=+-H
31/12/2009
AREFT
RMB'000

3,260

31. OPERATING LEASE

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases which fall due as follows:

HZ-Z-2F BE-ZTHF

t=A=t+-R +=A=+-H

LLFE LFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEETT AEET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

Within one year 23,143 21,049
In the second to fifth year inclusive 71,843 3,020
94,986 24,069
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

31. OPERATING LEASE (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its warehouses and production facilities. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of one to three years. Relevant
contracts have been renewed during reporting period.

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with

tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

BE-Z-2F HECZTHF
T=A=1t-A t=A=t+-H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 33,604 32,380
In the second to fifth year inclusive 150,355 —
183,859 32,380

The amount represent rentals receivable from Qingling Isuzu
Engine for certain of its land and buildings and production facilities.
Relevant contracts have been renewed during the reporting period
and leases are negotiated for an average term of three or four years.
On 2 March 2011, the renewal of the leases has been approved at
an extraordinary general meeting.

Other than the above, the Group does not have any other
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases of property, plant and equipment and
investment property at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has a service agreement with its ultimate holding
company, Qingling Group, whereby the Company will reimburse
the contributions made by Qingling Group to a defined contribution
pension scheme administered by the municipal government in
respect of the staff of the Group. According to such scheme,
Qingling Group shall annually pay an amount, calculated at a
percentage of the total wages of the staff, to a retirement fund
administered by the municipal government. The amount paid during
the year under such arrangement amounted to RMB16,393,000
(2009: RMB14,133,000). Pensions shall be paid to the retired staff
out of this retirement fund.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no forfeited
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the retirement
benefits scheme before they are fully vested in the contributions
and which are available to reduce the contributions payable by the
Group in future (2009: nil).
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33. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

A=+—HRK Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2010 and

mT

AMEEEER ERERES

Country of Form of HER
registration business Registered
and operation  structure capital
hE—WmIHNRE  EMKL 38,166,600

RELE Incorporated 1US$38,166,600
PRC — Sino

foreign equity
joint venture

FE —FINEE  EfL 29,980,000 7
RELE Incorporated 1US$29,980,000
PRC — Sino

foreign equity
joint venture

year.

31 December 2009 are as follows:

ARFEREEN
AMEAEENED L

Percentage of nominal value of

registered capital directly held by =Z %

the Company
2010 2009
50.56% 50.56%
51% 51%

Principal activities

HEEERE R
KA

Production of moulds
for the manufacture of
automobile parts

AR E
Not yet commenced
business

The subsidiaries had no debt securities outstanding at the end of the
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial summary — in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

BEt-A=t-HLEE
For the Year ended 31 December
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
NEETT ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARKTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Revenue 6,107,141 4,489,968 3,960,818 3,756,513 3,342,442
Profit before tax 355,411 292,514 205614 190,912 89,741
Income tax expense (52,088)  (57,354)  (26,295)  (19,798)  (10,273)
Profit for the year 303,223 235,160 179,319 171,114 79,468
Attributable to:
Owners of
the Company 301,666 240,827 175,159 159,236 77,688
Non-controlling
interests 1,657 (5,667) 4,160 11,878 1,780

303,323 235,160 179,319 171,114 79,468
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial summary — in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Cont’d)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Attributable to:
Owners of
the Company
Non-controlling
interest

R+t=A=t-8H

As at 31 December
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
NEETT ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARKTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

10,387,266 9,077,170 8,403,302 8,308,426 7,918,078
(2,949,487) (1,741,887 (1,178,486) (1,187,917)  (980,587)

7,437,779 7,335,283 7,224,816 7,120,509 6,937,491

7,148,122 7,045,036 6,928,321 6,827,627 6,718,036

289,657 290,247 296,495 292,882 219,455

7,437,779 7,335,283 7,224,816 7,120,509 6,937,491
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PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
FOR THE YEAR OF 2010

In accordance with the pertinent regulations and based on the actual
situation of the Company, the board of directors of the Company
resolved that the proposed appropriation of profit for the year of
2010 be as follows:

1. The appropriation of net profits after taxation shall be: 10% for
Statutory Reserve Fund, 0% for Statutory Public Benefit Fund
(Note) and 90% for profit available for distribution.

2. A final dividend of RMBO0.10 per share in cash is proposed
to be paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of shareholders on Monday, 9 May 2011. Further
announcement will be made as to the exact form of payment.

3.  This proposal is subject to the approval by the shareholders at
the annual general meeting.

Note: In accordance with the amendment to the Company Law of PRC on 27
October 2005 effective from 1 January 2006, and pursuant to the Company's
articles of association and the resolutions of the board of directors of the
Company, the Company decided not to accrue for Statutory Public Benefit
Fund from the year of 2006.

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
23 March 2011
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

WU Yun (Chairman)

GAO Jianmin

Makoto TANAKA (General Manager)
Ryozo TSUKIOKA

LIU Guangming

PAN Yong

YUE Huagiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

XU Bingjin

SUPERVISORS

MIN Qing (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)
ZHOU Hong

ZHANG Wanijin

COMPANY SECRETARY
PRC: WU Nianging
Hong Kong: TUNG Tat Chiu Michael

AUDIT COMMITTEE

SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
LONG Tao

XU Bingjin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
LIU Guangming (Committee Chairman)
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

XU Bingjin

CORPORATE INFORMATION AVAILABLE AT
Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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3£ TE Hb ut LEGAL ADDRESS

FEE AR LME 1 Xiexing Cun

BEM Zhongliangshan

NBEH @ Jiulongpo District

2L Chongging

15 LAY — 5% the People’s Republic of China

ERTEE XM PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
o) 5 Suite 4901, 49th Floor

& B R Office Tower, Convention Plaza

EEESHAKNE 1 Harbour Road

49124901 = Wanchai, Hong Kong

UNETE BT COMPANY’'S WEBSITE

www.qgingling.com.cn www.qgingling.com.cn

BB EELE SHARE REGISTRARS

ERBBLHELRBERAA Hong Kong Registrars Limited

s Shops 1712-1716

B2 A 1835 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

SN 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

17121716 % Hong Kong

HER B 17 & i it Bh H SHARE LISTING PLACE

EBBAERSIMBRAT The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Bt (5 ¢ 1122 Stock code: 1122

FEARBIT PRINCIPAL BANKERS

FERITEESTT Bank of China, Chongging Branch

ZBRITEEDT Bank of Communications, Chongging Branch
PEITEHIRITEE DT The Commercial and Industrial Bank of China, Chongging Branch
FETIHETRRLREEE The Commercial and Industrial Bank of China, Zhongliangshan Office
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¥ B Am AUDITORS
EEEXSIHMEHMBERAF Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd.
FEARKEM 8/F, Office Tower W2

it 100738 The Towers, Oriental Plaza
REZHIR 1 East Chang An Avenue
RAESR A EER Beijing 100738

AR RNIESRE People’s Republic of China
EE e BEMR S SETAITT Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
BB HEEBSH 35/F, One Pacific Place
K& E % — Hi35iE 88 Queensway, Hong Kong
EEEE LEGAL ADVISERS
BEEZH - as to Hong Kong laws:
T EEAT Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo
BEBEPIR 26/F., Jardine House
REEES 1R 1 Connaught Place

15 MK [E261 Central, Hong Kong

Bt EE B as to PRC laws:

V8 8 72 A B 7% P Haiwen & Partners

R AR AE Room 1016

it R 7100027 Beijing Silver Tower

25 @ No. 2 Dong San Huan North Road
R =RIL K258 Chao Yang District

I RERRE Beijing 100027

1016 % People’'s Republic of China
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